
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of  

the Lake Administration Committee 

on Friday, 6 October 2017, at 10.00 a.m. 

in the The Marchesi Centre, Holly Road, Windermere  LA23 2AF 

 
 

Committee Membership 

South Lakeland District Council 

Roger Bingham 
Andrew Butcher 

Stan Collins 
David Evans 
Gill Gardner 

Brenda Gray (Vice-Chairman) 
John Holmes 
Dyan Jones 
Mel Mackie 

Annie Rawlinson 
Vivienne Rees 

Sue Sanderson (Chairman) 
Graham Vincent 

Phil Walker 
David Williams 
Mark Wilson 

 

Lakes Parish Council 

Leslie Johnson Fiona Sparrow Philip Thompson 

Windermere Town Council 

Kathleen Atkinson 

Jennifer Borer 

Leith Hallatsch 

Peter Jewell 

Adrian Legge 

 
Wednesday, 27 September 2017 
 
Debbie Storr, Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 
 
For all enquiries, please contact:-  

Committee Administrator: Paul Rogers 

 

Telephone: 01539 793497 

e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  MINUTES  5 - 10 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Committee held on 30 June 2017 (copy attached). 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.) 
 
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests. 
 
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 

4  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the item in Part II of the Agenda should be considered in 
the presence of the press and public. 

 

5  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations 
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so before 
the commencement of the meeting.  Information on how to make the application 
can be obtained by viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or 
by contacting the Committee Services Team on 01539 733333. 
 
(1) Questions and Representations 
 
 To receive any questions or representations which have been received 

from members of the public. 
 
(2) Deputations and Petitions 
 
 To receive any deputations or petitions which have been received from 

members of the public. 

 

6  PROGRESS REPORT  11 - 12 

 To consider an update on progress relating to decisions made at previous 
meetings of the Committee, as at 27 September 2017. 

 

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


7  WINDERMERE - LAKE ACTION PLAN 2017-2022  13 - 78 

 To consider adopting the Windermere Lake Action Plan 2017-2022.  

8  LAKE WINDERMERE FEES AND CHARGES 2018/19  79 - 92 

 To consider proposals for Fees and Charges relating to Windermere Lake and 
the Lake Wardens from 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019. 

 

PART II   

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number)  

 

9  UPDATE ON COMMERCIAL LEASES AND ENCROACHMENTS  
 
- Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
- Paragraph 5 - Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional 

privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
 

93 - 100 

 To update Members about commercial leases and annual encroachments 
around the Lake and the current position in relation to debt recovery actions. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
30.06.2017 Lake Administration Committee 
 

LAKE ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Lake Administration Committee held in the 
District Council Chamber, South Lakeland House, Kendal, on Friday, 30 June 2017, at 
11.00 a.m. 
 

Present 
 

Councillors 
 

Roger Bingham 
Andrew Butcher 

Stan Collins 
David Evans 
Brenda Gray 

 

John Holmes 
Dyan Jones 
Mel Mackie 

Vivienne Rees 
Sue Sanderson 

 

Graham Vincent 
Phil Walker 

David Williams 
Mark Wilson 

 

Representing Lakes Parish Council 
 

Leslie Johnson 
 

Fiona Sparrow 
 

Philip Thompson 
 

Representing Windermere Town Council 
 

Kathleen Atkinson 
Leith Hallatsch 

 

Peter Jewell 
Adrian Legge 

 

  
 

Apologies for absence were received from District Councillors Gill Gardner and  
Annie Rawlinson, and Windermere Town Councillor Jennifer Borer. 
 

Officers 
 

Frankie Flannigan Lake and Parking Services Officer 

Jason Habbershon Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer 

Anthea Lowe Solicitor to the Council 

Jim Maguire Community and Leisure Manager 

David Sykes Director People and Places 

Sion Thomas Corporate Asset Manager 

 

LA/1 CHAIRMAN  
 
RESOLVED – That Councillor Sue Sanderson be re-elected as Chairman of the Committee 
for the ensuing year. 
 

LA/2 VICE-CHAIRMAN  
 
RESOLVED – That Councillor Brenda Gray be re-elected as Vice-Chairman of the 
Committee for the ensuing year. 
 

LA/3 MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of 
the meeting of the Committee held on 7 April 2017. 
 

Page 5

Item No.2



2 
30.06.2017 Lake Administration Committee 
 

LA/4 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of interest were raised. 
 

LA/5 TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
RESOLVED – That the Terms of Reference and the Agreement for the Constitution of the 
Lake Administration Committee be noted. 
 

LA/6 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED – That the items in Part II of the agenda be dealt with following the exclusion of 
the press and public. 
 

LA/7 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no questions, representations, deputations or petitions 
have been received in respect of this meeting. 
 

LA/8 WINDERMERE LAKE USERS FORUM  
 
Carole Shaw, Chairman of the Windermere Lake User Forum (WLUF), outlined the 
concerns, both for the Lake and its users, raised by lake users with representatives of the 
WLUF. Some of the concerns were in response to new proposals, while some were 
repeated comments from previous years. 
 
Ms Shaw drew attention to a perceived lack of investment to meet the identified needs of 
boat users and explained that although investment in public transport had clearly taken 
place, not enough had been done to provide boat users with shore access at main visitor 
destinations. She noted that the proposed Windermere Lake Action Plan recognised this, 
but felt that there was no action set out which would address the issue. Ms Shaw explained 
that, in many cases, the requirements to make the lakeshore more accessible to boat users 
would not be excessive. 
 
Referring to a lack of progress on collaborative working regarding the provision of 
“destinations” for lake users, Ms Shaw explained that there was a need for partnership 
working between South Lakeland District Council, the Lake District National Park Authority 
and the WLUF to identify sites, to negotiate with organisations such as hotels who would be 
willing to allow use of their jetties, and to produce a printed leaflet for lake users to take 
advantage of. She proposed that such a leaflet could be sold for a nominal sum, as is 
currently the case with local cycle maps, to ensure that they were available for lake users. 
 
Regarding the removal of issues from the Windermere Strategy, Ms Shaw drew particular 
attention to concerns regarding water quality at Cockshott Point, highlighting that WLUF 
was the only body repeatedly calling for the site to become a designated bathing area. She 
also highlighted concerns regarding phosphate pollution in the northern Lake rising. Water 
level concerns, and how these would be affected by the proposed dredging referred to 
within United Utilities’ 2017 Drought Plan, and the proposals for water trading in the future.  
 
Windermere Town Councillor Peter Jewell suggested that the increased phosphate levels in 
the north of the Lake could be related to conservation grazing in the area. He undertook to 
provide both the WLUF, and the Lake Administration Committee, with a copy of a paper he 
had authored on the subject. 
 

Page 6



3 
30.06.2017 Lake Administration Committee 
 
Members suggested that there could be other or additional routes, such as task and finish 
groups, that WLUF could use to address their concerns. Ms Shaw explained that this had 
previously been attempted with a working group on the provision of new public jetties, but 
that the group had been dissolved before it had concluded its work. 
 
Following a request, Ms Shaw provided further information on the WLUF. She confirmed 
that minutes of formal WLUF meetings were currently circulated to the Lake Administration 
Committee, and agreed that the minutes of WLUF’s informal meetings would also be 
circulated in the future. 
 
Members recognised that the usage of the Lake had changed. 
 
A discussion took place regarding the reference made within Ms Shaw’s report to the 
Council undercutting commercial operators. It was emphasised that any surplus was 
reinvested to improve services at Lake Windermere and the surrounding area. The 
Community and Leisure Manager explained that the Council offered different services to 
those of commercial operators on the Lake. SLDC provided 27 berths. There were 
approximately 900 commercial berths on the Lake. He also reminded Members that the 
committee cycle required that the fees and charges for Lake Windermere be published in 
October each year, and that, because of this, commercial operators were able to set their 
own fees based on those of the Council and not vice-versa. 
 
Following a request from Members, Ms Shaw agreed that future reports from the 
Windermere Lake User Forum would indicate issues raised by each of the constituent 
groups on the User Forum, in order to provide the Committee with a better idea of the 
nature of the problems being raised. 
 

LA/9 PROGRESS REPORT  
 
The Director People and Places presented a report updating Members on progress made 
on decisions taken at previous meetings of the Committee, with particular focus on the 
developments regarding the Windermere Lake Action Plan.  
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

LA/10 DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO APPROVE LEASE TERMS  
 
The Director People and Places presented a report which had been produced following a 
discussion which had taken place at the Committee’s last meeting in April 2017. The report 
set out an opportunity for the Lake Administration Committee to delegate authority to the 
Director People and Places to determine the length of encroachment leases.  
 
The Council’s property services provider, Lambert Smith Hampton (LSH), had existing 
delegated authority to negotiate and agree terms for leases for a period of up to nine years. 
However, the option of a longer term could be used by LSH as part of the negotiating 
position on the overall terms of a lease. In cases where LSH was aware of the requirement 
for a longer-term lease at the time of seeking the Lake Administration Committee’s approval 
for the encroachment, the report would carry a specific recommendation for approval of the 
longer term lease. However, it had usually been the case that the full detail of commercially 
negotiated terms was not known at the time of securing committee approval for the 
encroachment. Where, during subsequent negotiation, the agreement would be beneficial 
to be in excess of the delegated authority limit of nine years, the proposal would currently 
have to be referred for committee approval, which could delay the conclusion of the 
agreement by up to three months. 

Page 7



4 
30.06.2017 Lake Administration Committee 
 
 
It was being recommended that the Director People and Places be delegated authority to 
agree a lease of up to a maximum term of 25 years, based on the advice of LSH and the 
Solicitor to the Council. This would provide for a separate decision maker when considering 
a term longer than the nine years. 
 
In all cases of a new encroachment, or a renewal with substantial changes, the approval of 
the encroachment would continue to be referred to the Committee for decision.  The Lake 
Administration Committee would continue to determine leases with a term in excess of 25 
years. 
 
Should the recommended delegation be approved, cases where the Director People and 
Places had exercised the proposed authority would be reported to the following meeting of 
the Lake Administration Committee to note. 
 
In response to queries, the Solicitor to the Council provided clarification regarding the 
nature of longer-term leases and the protection available to the Council should a property 
subject to such a lease change its ownership in the future. 
 
The Director People and Places confirmed that the proposed delegation would cover leases 
between ten and 25 years in length, and not nine to 25 years as indicated in the report. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Director People and Places be delegated authority to determine the 
length of encroachment leases as described within paragraphs 3.5 to 3.9 of the report, 
subject to the clarification regarding the period covered being between ten and 25 years as 
set out above. 
 

LA/11 APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2017-18  
 
The Director People and Places introduced a report which requested the nominations for 
Members to act as representatives to the Windermere Lake Management Working Group, 
which was to replace the Windermere Management Strategy Working Group following its 
dissolution. He explained that, subject to the adoption of the Windermere Lake Action Plan 
2017-22 in October 2017, it was being recommended that the Windermere Lake 
Management Group be appointed to enable the transition to a new Action Plan Delivery 
Group. 
 
The Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer confirmed that the membership of the group 
would remain four district councillors (to include the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the 
Lake Administration Committee), one co-opted member from Windermere Town Council 
and one co-opted member from Lakes Parish Council. 
 
RESOLVED – That  
 
(1) the report on the work of the Windermere Management Strategy Joint Working 
Group for the period 2016/17 be noted; and 
 
(2) the following representatives be appointed to serve on the Windermere Lake 
Management Working Group/Action Plan Delivery Group for the forthcoming year:- 
 

 Sue Sanderson (Chairman of the Lake Administration Committee); 

 Brenda Gray (Vice-Chairman of the Lake Administration Committee); 

 Graham Vincent; 

 Phil Walker; 

Page 8



5 
30.06.2017 Lake Administration Committee 
 

 Leslie Johnson (Lakes Parish Council); and 

 Jennifer Borer (Windermere Town Council). 
 

LA/12 PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED - That, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds 
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 
12 A of the Act as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) 
Order 2006 by virtue of the paragraphs indicated. 
 

LA/13 FERRY NAB UPDATE 
 
- Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
An update regarding the works at Ferry Nab, Windermere was presented by the Corporate 
Asset Manager. 
 
Following discussion, it was 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

LA/14 UPDATE ON COMMERCIAL LEASES AND ANNUAL ENCROACHMENTS 
 
- Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the authority holding that information) 
- Paragraph 5 - Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could 

be maintained in legal proceedings. 
 
The Solicitor to the Council presented a report which provided Members with an update on 
commercial leases and annual encroachments around the Lake and the current position in 
relation to debt recovery actions. The report also provided an update on the work of the 
Lake Administration Task and Finish Group and a proposal that this now be dissolved. 
Members felt that the work of the Task and Finish Group had been well conveyed, and that 
a final formal report would not be required. 
 
Members expressed their thanks to the Solicitor to the Council for her work. 
 
Members were also asked to consider the terms of the Lease to Lakeland Arts Trust in 
respect of the Steamboat Museum and the inclusion of a clause to permit sub-letting part of 
the premises. 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) the report be noted; 
 
(2) the Director People and Places be authorised to approve the final terms of the 
Lease to Lakeland Arts Trust in respect of the Steamboat Museum to include provisions to 
permit the subletting of part as set out in paragraphs 5.1 to 5.4 of the report; and 
 
(3) that the Lake Administration Task and Finish Group, created on 5 June 2015 for the 
purpose of assisting with debt recovery matters, be dissolved. 
 

Page 9



6 
30.06.2017 Lake Administration Committee 
 

LA/15 RE-ADMISSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED – That the press and public be re-admitted to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 1.00 p.m. 

Page 10



LAKE ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE 

PROGRESS REPORT: as at 27 September 2017 

Minute 
no. 

Report Title Committee 
Date 

Progress Due date Officer 
 

LA/21 Lake User Forum 
Engagement 
Protocol 

5 October 
2012 

The Lake User Forum meets on Monday 25th 
September.  A verbal update will be provided at the 
meeting. 

This is an 
ongoing 
item 
 

David 
Sykes 
 
 

LA/20 Windermere 
Strategy 

3 October 
2014 

Windermere Management Strategy is on the Agenda. 

 

6th October 
2017 

 
David 
Sykes 
 
 

LA/20 Progress Report -
Works at Ferry 
Nab Boathouse 
(Showers/WC 
facilities etc.) 

7 October 
2016 

There is no update at this time. April 2018 Sion 
Thomas 

  

P
age 11

Item
 N

o.6



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 12



1 
 

South Lakeland District Council 

Lake Administration Committee 

6 October 2017 

Cabinet 

25 October 2017 

Windermere – Lake Action Plan 2017-2022 

 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Sue Sanderson - Chair of the Lake 
Administration Committee  

and  

Councillor Graham Vincent – Economy and Assets 
Portfolio Holder 

REPORT FROM: David Sykes – Director People and Places 

REPORT AUTHOR: David Sykes – Director People and Places 

WARDS: Ambleside and Grasmere, Coniston and Crake Valley, 
Hawkshead, Windermere Applethwaite and Troutbeck, 
Windermere and Bowness North, Windermere and 
Bowness South, Staveley in Cartmel, Windermere 
Bowness North 

FORWARD PLAN: For Lake Administration Committee, Not applicable 

For Cabinet, Key Decision included in the Forward Plan 

as published April 2017 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 The adoption of the Windermere – Lake Action Plan 2017-22 will set out the key, new 
actions to be undertaken to secure and improve the environment of Windermere and 
the land immediately around its shores and improve the community and economic 
benefits it provides. The plan covers the next six years, building on the achievements 
from the previous two five year strategies. 

1.2 The Plan will clarify the role of the District Council, the Lake District National Park 
Authority and other delivery partners, promoting collaborative action through an 
Action Plan Delivery Group reporting to a Steering Group. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that the Lake Administration Committee and Cabinet adopt 
the Windermere – Lake Action Plan 2017-2022. 

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 This report is presented to both the Lake Administration Committee and the Cabinet 
as implementation the proposed Windermere - Lake Action Plan 2017-22 (‘the Plan’) 

Page 13

Item No.7



2 
 

will involve the remit and services under the jurisdiction of both decision making 
committees. The Plan is also being presented for adoption by the Lake District 
National Park Authority’s Park Strategy and Vision Committee on the 19th October 
2017. 

3.2 Windermere is a much loved and visited iconic landscape at the heart of the Lake 
District National Park and the South Lakeland District. It is central to the image and 
tourism offer of Cumbria, attracting visitors from the UK and across the world. The 
health and vitality of the communities, economy and environment of this part of the 
District and the south-east and centre of the National Park are strongly linked and 
interdependent upon the Lake. These critical links are reflected in the integrated 
approach taken in the Plan. A copy of the draft Plan is attached as Appendix 1. 

3.3 The Plan’s vision is for  

Windermere to be world class, stunningly beautiful, clean and vibrant. It 
will be a place accessed, enjoyed and understood by many and diverse 
interests, driving a vibrant economy.  

Stakeholders will work collaboratively to make better its habitats, its 
accessibility and water level management, creating confidence, value 
and commitment to the lake’s future amongst visitors and residents. 

3.4 The Plan’s origins lie in the actions and achievements of the previous two five-year 
strategies for the Lake, plus the existing and recent strategies of key partnerships 
working to improve a range of topics affecting the lake– from water quality to public 
transport options.  The over-arching approach is to both evolve and build on those 
strategies, and to address emerging new opportunities and challenges. Sustaining 
and building on the investments and successes from the previous plans is as 
important to the long-term management of the local area as initiation of new actions. 

3.5 Through the review of the previous strategies, and consultation with key delivery 
bodies and stakeholders, progress and delivery of change were identified, together 
with a need to focus the Plan onto key issues for the Lake. The new Plan intends to 
garner a refreshed collaborative approach to the delivery of a series of Breakthrough 
Actions.  Activities which are considered ‘business as usual’ will continue to be 
delivered by the respective organisations, reflected in their existing service planning 
and reporting procedures. As such, it is intentional that the new Plan does not cover 
all issues which may have effect on the Lake. 

3.6 To enable focus on action, the new Plan does not seek to replicate the higher level 
strategies for the locality. It takes the approach of signposting where the strategic 
direction is described in relevant strategies and approaches of the Lake District 
National Park Partnership, the Environment Agency, United Utilities and Local 
Government. The Plan demonstrates how its actions have strong ‘strategic fit’ within 
the existing framework of adopted strategy.   

3.7 The Plan identifies 6 priority management issues for the Lake:  

o Issue 1 - Integrated sustainable transport and access 

o Issue 2 – Visitor economy and offer  

o Issue 3 - Changing demand from users  

o Issue 4 - Water levels: flood and drought 

o Issue 5 – Water quality 

o Issue 6 - Biodiversity and natural capital decline 

 

3.8 From this analysis, the Plan is focussed on delivering a clear set of ‘breakthrough’ 
actions which address the issues and which are not being delivered by others. 

Page 14



3 
 

Avoiding duplication of activity, project management and reporting arrangements is a 
vital consideration if delivery organisations are to be engaged meaningfully in a Lake 
Action Plan Delivery Group. 

3.9 The breakthrough actions are described in the Plan, with the detail presented in 
terms of action, milestones, timetable and delivery partners.  Paragraph 6 of this 
report describes how the Actions help achieve the priorities of the Council. 

3.10 Section 4 of the Plan describes what success will look like, drawn directly from 
comments made by delivery organisations and stakeholders engaged in the Plan’s 
production. 

3.11 To enable delivery, the Plan recognises the need for collaborative partnership 
working, focussed action planning, shared ownership of the actions and effective 
monitoring. This will keep the Plan on track and enable it to respond to change in 
circumstances. It proposes that this is best achieved by a new management 
arrangement which will evolve from the existing Windermere Management Strategy 
Working Group.  It is proposed that delivery organisations will coordinate and 
develop activity through an ‘Action Plan Delivery Group.’ Overall progress towards 
achieving the Plan would be reviewed through a Steering Group comprising 
members from the LDNPA and SLDC’s Lake Administration Committee. These 
arrangements would replace the existing Windermere Management Strategy Working 
Group, signalling new intent to bring key delivery organisations, lake users and 
community representatives together. 

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 The production of the Plan has been undertaken with the oversight of the 
Windermere Management Strategy Working Group.  This group primarily draws 
together member and officer representatives of the Council, Lakes Parish Council, 
Windermere Town Council and the LDNPA and a representative of the Windermere 
Lake User Forum.  The Group has previously drawn adhoc involvement from other 
organisations such as the Environment Agency.  The approach of simplifying and 
focussing the previous breadth of management strategy into a new Action Plan was 
considered and approved by the Lake Administration Committee and the National 
Park Authority’s Park Vision and Strategy Committee at their respective meetings in 
October 2014. The need to focus on the Lake and immediate shore and on the key 
gaps in delivery was discussed with stakeholders via the review and workshop in July 
2016 and was supported. Subsequently the Strategy Working Group signed off this 
approach. 

4.2 To provide the necessary capacity to undertake the work, the LDNPA, with SLDC’s 
support, appointed Bowfell Consulting to lead the production of the Plan. Throughout 
the Plan’s drafting, meetings have taken place with key delivery organisations, 
stakeholders and the Windermere Lake User Forum, including a workshop drawing 
these organisations together to discuss issues and approaches for the Lake’s 
management.  Three meetings of the Strategy Working Group have guided the work 
and the draft Plan has been made available on line during April and May 2017 for 
wider consultation. Parish Council’s, Ward Councillors, stakeholders and business 
representatives have been directly invited to comment on the draft Plan. 

4.3 In total, 67 people and organisations were invited to comment, with 24 responses 
being received from Parish Councils, the Windermere Lake User Forum, agencies, 
businesses and some individual powered craft users. There were a mix of positive 
and critical comments. Concern had been raised regarding the scope of the plan, 
though recognising that it had been prepared on a different basis to focus on the 
gaps in activity / responsibilities of other organisations with regard to the Lake’s 
management.  

Page 15



4 
 

4.4 The consultation responses were summarised and considered by the Windermere 
Management Strategy Working Group at their meeting in July 2017. As a result, 
revisions and additions have been made to the draft plan. Appendix 2 has a copy of 
the summary and revisions.  

4.5 Whilst it is acknowledged that the draft Plan’s focus and scope is different to the 
previous Strategies and that the change is not wholly supported by all respondents to 
the consultation, it remains the advice of the Windermere Strategy Working Group 
that the revised Plan should be presented for adoption as it will focus attention and 
resources on delivery of the key actions.   A wider test for partners will be that other 
issues not forming the breakthrough actions will demonstrably be addressed through 
other strategies and plans.   

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 There is an option to not adopt the Plan.  This would leave the Council’s position in 
partnership working to deliver a sustainable future for the Lake in doubt and not 
promote joined up activity.  This would be of detriment to the environmental, social 
and economic potential of the Lake. This option is not recommended. 

5.2 There is an option to not adopt the Plan and commence work on an alternative plan 
which may seek to be more comprehensive and similar to previous iterations of the 
Lake Management Strategy.  This would not be conducive to achieving focus and 
risks being repetitive of other strategies already adopted for the area.  This approach 
would incur additional cost. This option is not recommended. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 The District Council is a key organisation in any discussion and initiative over the 
existing and future management of the Lake.   The Council’s priorities of promoting a 
stronger economy, promoting culture and wellbeing and protecting and enhancing 
the District’s environment all find contribution from how the Lake is managed, 
benefiting residents and visitors. 

6.2 Of the Plan’s Breakthrough actions: 

Actions 1 and 2 promote active and sustainable travel,  

Action  3 promotes physical activity,  

Action 4 is directly contributory to the Council Plan commitment to improve and 
enhance facilities for lake users on Windermere, 

Action 5 is directly contributory to the Council Plan commitment to facilitate 
communities to prepare for future flooding and reducing impact of flooding on 
communities 

Action 6 promotes the protection and enhancement of our heritage and high quality 
environment 

Action 7 contributes to how the Council delivers its priorities, improved customer 
engagement and communication. 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 The Council is the owner of the Lake bed and its management of the asset has a 
fundamental bearing on the accessibility, facilities and economic value derived from 
the lake.  However, the Plan is not to be interpreted as an asset plan for the Lake 
bed as this will be addressed through the Council’s Asset Management Strategy. As 
the Asset Management Strategy develops, it needs to be informed by the outcomes 
sought by the range of stakeholders and delivery bodies through the Plan. The 

Page 16



5 
 

management of the Lake asset is the responsibility of the Lake Administration 
Committee. 

7.1.2 Delivery of the Breakthrough Actions will require the direction and shaping of other 
Council resources, for example the management of car parks and their integration 
with sustainable and active transport initiatives.  Lake shore access will involve the 
management of some of the Council’s parks and open spaces, for example the 
Glebe, Bowness Bay promenade, Miller Ground, Waterhead promenade.  It is 
considered that the Plan will not lead to significant change in how we manage and 
direct these resources as we are already engaged with initiatives in these areas. 

7.1.3 Adoption of the Plan itself will not generate additional financial commitments. The 
Plan recognises that opportunities exist for enhancing the value of the lake to the 
local area and that existing resources are constrained. The Plan promotes 
partnership working so that when proposals for new investment are identified, they 
can be justified, options explored and subsequently presented and appraised through 
the respective delivery body’s budgetary and resource planning processes. 
Opportunities for external funding can be maximised. 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 There are no additional staff resources required as a result of adopting the Plan.  
Activities in the Plan are addressed through the service planning of staff resources at 
the Lake, in Community and Leisure Services, Asset Management and Economic 
Development.  

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1  The Convention Concerning the Protection of World Cultural and Natural Heritage 
sites arose from The General Conference of the United Nations Educational, 
Scientific and Cultural Organization 16 November 1972 (“the UNESCO Convention”) 

7.3.2  Article 5 of the UNESCO Convention states: 

“To ensure that effective and active measures are taken for the protection, 

conservation and presentation of the cultural and natural heritage situated on its 

territory, each State Party to this Convention shall endeavor, in so far as possible, 

and as appropriate for each country: 

a. to adopt a general policy which aims to give the cultural and natural heritage a 

function in the life of the community and to integrate the protection of that heritage 

into comprehensive planning programmes; 

b. to set up within its territories, where such services do not exist, one or more services 

for the protection, conservation and presentation of the cultural and natural heritage 

with an appropriate staff and possessing the means to discharge their functions; 

c. to develop scientific and technical studies and research and to work out such 

operating methods as will make the State capable of counteracting the dangers that 

threaten its cultural or natural heritage;” 

7.3.3 Article 5 of the UNESCO Convention places an obligation on the State to assist 
integrate the protection, conservation and presentation of the Lake into planning 
programmes.  

7.3.4 The Action Plan should assist the State in fulfilling obligations under the UNESCO 
Convention through South Lakeland District Council and through the Lake District 
National Park Authority. 

7.3.5 The National Park purposes are set out in section 5 of the National Parks and Access 
to the Countryside Act 1949 (“ the 1949 Act”) and are:  

Page 17



6 
 

 conserving and enhancing the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the 
National Park and  

 promoting opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special 
qualities of the National Park 

7.3.6 The effect of section 11A of the 1949 Act is that both the LDNPA and the Council 
must have regard to the National Park Purposes when carrying out functions within 
the National Park and if it appears that there is a conflict between those purposes, 
both shall attach greater weight to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the 
natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the area comprised in the National 
Park. 

7.3.7 The Action Plan should assist the Local Authority and the LDNPA in fulfilling 
obligations under the 1949 Act in terms of its management of the Lake. 

7.3.8 The Action Plan should benefit and assist the State in the protection, conservation 
and presentation of the Lake in the future.  

 

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental   

7.4.1 Have you completed and Health, 
Social, Economic and Environmental 
Impact Assessment? 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached 
to the report in the appendices. 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Summary of health, social, economic 
and environmental impacts. 

The Plan is considered to make a positive 
contribution to Health, Social, Economic 
and Environmental outcomes. 

 

7.5 Equality and Diversity  

7.5.1  

Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis? 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached 
to the report in the appendices. 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Summary of equality and diversity 
impacts. 

There is a positive opportunity for 
enhancing transport and services in rural 
areas. 

The design of new infrastructure and 
information provision will take account of 
accessibility requirements 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Absence of an up to date 
agreed vision for the future 
of the Lake 

Absence of partnership 
working and collaboration 

 

Absence of joining up 
activities and the services 

Adopt The Plan 

 

Engage in collaborative 
working 

Page 18



7 
 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

and expertise of various 
organisations 

The environment, 
economic and social value 
of the lake declines with 
resultant impact on the 
wider South Lakeland and 
National Park area.  

 

Monitor and report 
progress 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Report Author - David Sykes Director People and Places 

 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

Appendix No.  

1 Windermere – Lake Action Plan 2017-2022 (draft)  

2 Consultation Responses Summary 

3 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental impact analysis 

4 Equality Impact analysis 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available  

Lake Administration Committee 
Report and Minutes October 
2014 

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=123&MId=3670 

 

 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio Holder Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

10/09 10/09 10/09 14/09 n/a 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

10/09 06/10/17 or n/a 10/09 10/09 

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager 

Leader 

 

Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

  

n/a n/a Ward Councillors 
consulted on the 
Draft Action Plan 

  

 

Page 19

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3670
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3670


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



                                                                                                                                                              APPENDIX 1 

 

Windermere – Lake Action Plan  

2017-22 

FINAL DRAFT - September 2017 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Produced by Bowfell Consulting for:  

South Lakeland District Council 

Lake District National Park Authority 

 

  

Page 21



 

2 
 

Introducing this Action Plan 

This Action Plan sets out the key new actions to be undertaken to secure and improve the 

environment of Windermere lake and the land immediately around its shores - see map 1 - and 

improve the community and economic benefits these provide. This plan covers the next five years, 

building on the achievements from the previous two five year strategies. 

Windermere lake is a much loved and visited iconic landscape at the heart of the Lake District 

National Park. It is central to the image and tourism offer of Cumbria, attracting visitors from the UK 

and across the world. 

The health and vitality of the communities, economy and environment of the south-east and centre 

of the Lake District  are strongly linked and interdependent upon Windermere. Those critical links 

are reflected in the integrated approach taken in this Action Plan. 

Our vision for Windermere  

Working with partners, stakeholders and community representatives and groups our vision for 

Windermere and its immediate shore environment is: 

Our vision is for Windermere to be world class, stunningly beautiful, clean and 

vibrant. It will be a place accessed, enjoyed and understood by many and diverse 

interests, driving a vibrant economy.  

 

Stakeholders will work collaboratively to make better its habitats, its accessibility 

and water level management, creating confidence, value and commitment to the 

lake’s future amongst visitors and residents. 

Achieving our Vision: Breakthrough Actions for 2017-22 

This plan is focused on delivering joint action across organisations, businesses and communities to 

deliver our shared vision for Windermere, see section 4.1. 

Therefore this plan starts with the actions, which have been developed through joint working across 

sectors. We call these Breakthrough Actions because the community representatives, businesses 

and organisations that know the lake consider these are the priority actions needed for the next five 

years to tackle issues not currently being addressed through the work of others.   

Action 1: Improve the non-car dependent visitor offer around the lake by improving 

connectivity and integrated ‘packaging’ of non-car transport, parking, visitor attractions, public 

access and informal recreation options 

Action 2: Improve the shore access network in the south west of the lake 

Action 3: Effectively manage lake swimming through better evidence, understanding 

needs and improving key locations 

Action 4: Enhance the boat user experience through improved infrastructure and 

information at existing locations 

Page 22



 

3 
 

Action 5: Improve the resilience of public infrastructure and access around the 

lake to extremes of lake level fluctuations 

Action 6: Improve the key biodiversity/natural capital assets of the lake and it shore, 

and the public benefits this provides, by identifying and implementing practical action 

Action 7: Develop a monitoring and reporting framework for delivery of the 

Action Plan including an intelligence base that also enables existing and emerging risks and issues 

to be identified, understood and assessed 

These actions are outlined further  in section 7.1, with the full  detail of each 

action, who will take them forward and the timetable for delivery in Annex 1 

 

  

Page 23



 

4 
 

1. Developing this Action Plan 

1.1: Connecting – Focus – Partnership 

Windermere does not sit or function in isolation. The health of its landscape and environmental 

assets – or as it is increasingly called, its natural capital – directly affects the benefits it provides for 

people, both residents and visitors alike. The quality of its ‘visitor offer’ directly affects the 

experience for visitors and the performance of the visitor economy of Cumbria. 

Windermere lake is a much loved and visited iconic landscape at the heart of the Lake District 

National Park. It is central to the image and tourism offer of Cumbria, attracting visitors from the UK 

and across the world. 

Such a valued landscape requires careful and considered management. The approach in this Action 

Plan to managing this landscape, the issues it faces and the changes needed to secure and improve it 

into the future can be summarised, using the words from stakeholder feedback, as: 

 Connecting – Focus – Partnership 

Connecting – of communities, economy and the lake environment – are core to this Action Plan. The 

health and vitality of the communities, economy and environment of the south-east and centre of 

the Lake District  are strongly linked and interdependent upon Windermere. Those critical links are 

reflected in the integrated approach taken in this Action Plan. 

Focus – this Action Plan is focused on addressing key issues not currently being addressed or that 

require significant further action beyond what has been achieved previously. Unlike the two 

previous strategies, this Action Plan is focused on achieving the additional ‘must do’ actions that are 

not currently underway. The focus is on new integrated ‘Breakthrough Actions’, which is distinct 

from ‘business-as-usual’ activity already planned and/or underway. These integrated actions address 

the issues facing the lake and its shores, and the communities and economy it supports.  

Partnership - There are many partnerships and stakeholders working together to manage the lake 

and its surroundings. They each have their plans and priorities ahead. While this Action Plan reflects 

and builds upon these it does not duplicate them.  Partnership action to deliver the Breakthrough 

Actions, and ensure they fit with and support existing activity, will be critical to the success of this 

plan. 

1.2 Engagement and consultation 

This plan has been initiated by the two public authorities with organisational responsibility across 

the issues for Lake Windermere – South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) and the Lake District 

National Park Authority (LDNPA). However, the plan is not just for the authorities; it has been 

developed and reflects the views of a wide range of stakeholders and sectors, and particularly local 

communities and lake users.   

This collaborative and engaged process has sought the views of elected representatives and bodies, 

stakeholders, user groups, public and voluntary organisations, and commercial sector 

representatives via: 

 One-to-one dialogue with key stakeholders and partners 

Page 24



 

5 
 

 Two workshops for key partnerships, stakeholders and the Chair of the Windermere Lake 

Users Forum –  

o Workshop 1 – to establish the key management issues to be addressed 

o Workshop 2 – to identify the key management actions and how they fit with existing 

partnership action 

 Public consultation on the Draft Action Plan, including the draft Breakthrough Actions – 

which involved inviting 67 key community organisations, stakeholders and partners to 

comment and being hosted on the SLDC website to allow the public to respond 

1.3 Existing management framework 

The key strategic framework for managing the lake as part of the Lake District is the Lake District 

National Park Partnership’s Plan, 2016-20. In addition, strategic direction on key topics and issues 

comes from a number of focused groups and strategies. This plan draws upon these to provide the 

management framework for the plan period, including: 

o The Windermere Lake Administration Committee, often shortened to ‘Lake Admin’ 

o Windermere and River Levens Catchment Partnership   

o The Lake Windermere Water Levels Management Group 

o The Windermere Lake Users Forum 

Importantly, these groups bring together local community and lake representatives with the public 

and private organisations who are key to managing the lake and achieving change over the next six 

years through delivery of the Action Plan.  

1.4 Opportunities and challenges  

With the Action Plan complete the hard work begins – implementing the Breakthrough Actions. 

Achieving that will continue to require a joined-up, open and honest partnership approach.  This will 

require a commitment to refocus and review existing approaches to management arrangements as 

the Plan progresses.  

The approach to delivery of this Action Plan is outlined in section 7. 

During the development of this Action Plan the English Lakes World Heritage Site has been 

designated. As well as recognising the international significance of the Lake District, including 

Windermere’s landscapes, it offers new opportunities for attracting visitors, supporting the local 

economy and securing resources for sustainable management. 

Stakeholders and delivery partners also recognise that there are significant challenges to the level of 

ambition and delivery that can be achieved during this plan period. The main approach to addressing 

these is to ensure this Action Plan is focused on delivering a clear set of priority actions that are not 

being delivered by others, are realistic and avoid duplication.  

The key constraint is the reduction in public sector resources in both local and national 

organisations. This will be addressed through improving public/private partnership working and how 

collectively we make the most of existing resources around the lake to achieve the shared vision for 

the lake.  

Page 25



 

6 
 

2. Evolving and improving delivery  
 

2.1 Review of the 2011 Strategy 

 

This Action Plan builds on the legacy and achievements of the previous two five-year strategies for 

Windermere, and on the positive partnership approach to their delivery. It also connects to existing 

and recent strategies of key partnerships working to improve a range of topics affecting the lake– 

from water quality to public transport options.   

 

The over-arching approach is to both evolve and build on those strategies, and to address emerging 

new opportunities and challenges. Sustaining and building on the investments and successes from 

the previous plans is as important to the long-term management of the local area as initiation of 

new actions. 

 

The process to develop this plan began with a review of the effectiveness of the previous 2011 

Windermere Strategy, with engagement via a workshop and interviews with key partners and 

stakeholders. The review focused on the achievement of the actions in the strategy and lessons 

learned from the effectiveness of collaborative working across organisations. This has informed 

development of the delivery framework and governance for this plan.  

 

The level of response and depth of comment from this engagement demonstrated the commitment 

across sectors to continue to work together to manage and improve for the long-term future of the 

lake.    

 

Stakeholder feedback has led to the shift of emphasis from the previous strategy to a delivery 

approach that involves the ‘connecting – focus – partnership’ approach set out in section 1.1. 

 

2.2 Focusing on new issues and action 

Engagement with stakeholders highlighted that the previous 2011 strategy was overly complicated 

and lengthy, covering all planned actions by all relevant partners and partnerships around the lake. 

Ongoing ‘business-as-usual’ activity took up a lot of space in the strategy, while new issues and 

actions were harder to identify. This wasted time monitoring delivery of actions which were being 

delivered anyway.  

Stakeholders also noted that the partnership landscape has become more complex since 2011, with 

new partnerships and projects emerging and taking action. As a result this Action Plan purposefully 

takes a different approach to the previous strategy, and is focused on the key new actions needed to 

address issues in the next six years which are not part of existing strategies or plans. 

2.3 Building on successful partnership  

 

The headline feedback from the review of the effectiveness of delivery of the 2011 strategy is:   

 Successful partnership delivery – the review highlighted excellent progress, with 41 of the 46 

actions was achieved. Inevitably some actions were revised and/or the timings changed, and 

some of the actions are ongoing and will be completed well in to the new plan period 

 

Page 26



 

7 
 

 Action across many issues - the key achievements across the topics addressed in the 2011 

Strategy are set out in Annex 2.  

 

 Recognising achievements – there was surprise across partners at how much of the 2011 

plan actions had been delivered. While this is very encouraging it suggests there are 

improvements to be made in reporting progress and recognising collective success 

 

2.3 Developing partnership working 

 

Through the review there emerged clear recognition and desire to build on and further improve 

partnership working for the delivery of this Action Plan, by reviewing and learning from the previous 

ten years. This confirmed the desire to move forward and evolve ways of working as well as deliver 

new actions jointly. 

 

Partners identified ways to further develop partnership working that could help deliver this plan: 

 Develop a shared vision for future use and management of the lake and immediate 

shoreline, and so enable a sense of shared purpose and direction  

 Create a stronger sense of partnership between users and lake management organisations 

 Focus on a set of challenging yet achievable shared actions 

 Link to but avoid duplication of purpose and action with other partnerships 

 To better join up the activities of delivery organisations 

 Develop a simple yet effective approach to monitoring delivery  

 

These have shaped the approach taken to develop this Action Plan. The ‘connecting – focus – 

partnership’ approach that underpins this plan is a direct result of this partner feedback; see section 

1.1. 

 

 

  

Page 27



 

8 
 

3. Challenges for Windermere  

3.1 Key management issues 

 

The engagement and consultation process outlined in section 1.2., led to the identification of a suite 

of priority management issues affecting Windermere. This also highlighted that many of these are 

not being fully addressed through existing groups and strategies: 

 

o Issue 1 - Integrated sustainable transport and access 

o Issue 2 – Visitor economy and offer  

o Issue 3 - Changing demand from users  

o Issue 4 - Water levels: flood and drought 

o Issue 5 – Water quality 

o Issue 6 - Biodiversity and natural capital decline 

 

Interestingly, these are not new issues; all of them were identified and addressed in the previous 

two strategies, and highlighted in December 2014 to the Windermere Management Strategy 

Working Group when the process for developing this plan commenced.    

 

The key change from the previous strategy in 2010-11 is the current impact and priority attached to 

each of the issues. Therefore understanding what progress has been made to address each issue 

since 2011 and how that is being taken forward is fundamental to developing this Action Plan. 

Avoiding duplication and understanding what the current gaps and unaddressed needs are for each 

issue is vital.   

 

For some of these issues there has been significant progress and considerable increase in the 

partnership working and resources going in to addressing them – water quality in particular has seen 

increasing effort and focus. For others, such as integrated sustainable transport and access there has 

been specific action that progressed elements of the issue leaving other parts of the problem still to 

be tackled.  

 

To make sure this Action Plan builds on the current situation for each issue, and whether it is already 

being addressed at all, each management issue has been reviewed through dialogue with key 

stakeholders and partners. 

 

Annex 3 contains a summary analysis of each of the key management issues. 

 

  

Page 28



 

9 
 

4. Future direction  

 

4.1 What are we aiming to achieve? 

 

Our vision is for Lake Windermere to be world class, stunningly beautiful, clean 

and vibrant. It will be a place accessed, enjoyed and understood by many and 

diverse interests, driving a vibrant economy.  

 

Stakeholders will work collaboratively to make better its habitats, its 

accessibility and water level management, creating confidence, value and 

commitment to the lake’s future amongst visitors and residents. 

 

4.2 What will success look like? 

 

Partners and stakeholders recognise that achieving this vision will require a combination of 

improving key infrastructure and achieving shifts in behaviours of use and management of the lake.  

 

When asked ‘What image do you want visitors to have of the Lake in 5 years time?’ their responses 

indicate what successful implementation of the Breakthrough Actions in this plan could deliver:   

 Diverse range of recreational and boating activity in conjunction with each other 

 Flourishing economy balanced with a healthy biodiversity 

 Well managed with modern infrastructure 

 A lake all can use in a safe and fun way 

 Public realm and townscape that is better than they have at home 

 A truly world class destination 

 A fully inclusive outdoor destination 

 Joined up and economically vibrant  

 Clean/safe/available/varied/stunning/sustainable 

 A tranquil, distinctive, well used lake 

 A responsible, respectful, vibrant environment. 

 A place where people and wildlife can thrive 

 Active/diverse/accessible 

 

  

Page 29



 

10 
 

5. Delivering change: existing strategies + plans 
 

5.1 Avoiding duplication 

The approach in this Action Plan is summarised in section 1.1 as: 

 Connecting – Focus – Partnership 

Focus is to ensure there is not duplication of action and effort – this plan is about identifying gaps in 

addressing the key management issues (see section 3) and turning these in to Breakthrough Actions. 

Key to that is understanding the current delivery context – what are the existing strategies? What 

are the existing delivery partnerships? What are they planning to achieve, and how can that be built 

upon but not duplicated? 

 

Sections 5 and 6 review the existing strategies + plans and the existing partnerships + programmes 

that influence and address the key issues for Windermere. This is critical to identifying what else 

needs to be done to address them and the development of the Breakthrough Actions that are the 

focus for this Action Plan. 

 

5.2. The Lake District ‘Partnership Plan’  

The Lake District National Park Partnership (‘the Partnership’) was formed in 2006 and has 25 

member key organisations. The partnership brings them together with the clear purpose of 

proactively managing the National Park as effectively as possible.  

 

The partnership has a shared vision to 2030. To achieve that vision, and address the key risks and 

issues facing the National Park, the Partnership has developed a Lake District National Park 

Partnership Plan (‘the Partnership Plan’) which was finalised in 2016. This sets out a shared set of 

strategies for the 5 year life of the plan. In addition, a series of shared Breakthrough Actions are 

identified, which will be delivered by the partners collaboratively. 

 

The strategies in the Partnership Plan set out the approach needed to achieve the vision across the 

whole National Park. The management of Lake Windermere, which is a key asset within the National 

Park, sits within the framework of those wider strategies. Therefore this plan for the lake draws on 

the strategies within the Partnership Plan. This is an intentional shift from the previous strategies for 

the lake, and will help to ensure its management sits within the wider context of the management of 

the National Park. 

 

The key strategies for this plan relevant to the management of Lake Windermere over the next 5 

years, and the links to the Breakthrough Actions in section 6, are summarised in Table 3. Further 

relevant strategies for the management of Lake Windermere in the Partnership Plan are set out in 

Table 4. 

 

Table 3 – key strategies for Lake Windermere in the Lake District National Park Partnership Plan 

2016-20. The key text of each of the strategies in the Table are set out in Annex 4. 

Strategy code Strategy – some are abbreviated Breakthrough Actions links to 
each strategy 

SL 4 Increased resilience to flooding BA 5 

Page 30



 

11 
 

 

SL 7 Resilient and well-functioning habitats and 
wildlife 

BA 7 

PE 3 Increasing the number of staying visitors 
 

BA 1 

PE 11 Provision of infrastructure using roads, rail and 
boats 

BA 1, 4 

VE 6 Easy access to and within the Lake District, 
clear and easy orientation and choice of 
attractive travel options 

BA 1, 2, 4 

VC  7 Access to high quality amenity and recreation 
green spaces, public rights of way and facilities  

BA 1, 2, 3, 4 

 

Table 4 – further relevant strategies for Lake Windermere in the Lake District National Park 

Partnership Plan 2016-20. The key text of each of the strategies in the Table are set out in Annex 4. 

 

Strategy code 
 

Strategy – some are abbreviated 

SL1 A world-class living cultural landscape 
 

SL 2 Sustained distinctive and well maintained built and historic environment 
 

SL 5 Improved water quality and resources in lakes, tarns, rivers, ground waters and 
sea 

SL 8  The continuation of the Lake District as a source of artistic and 
cultural inspiration  

PE 4 Promote the Lake District as a year-round destination  
 

VE 1 Opportunity for experiences in a unique landscape 
 

VE2  
 

Responsible visiting 
 

VE 4 Distinctive settlement character, quality public realm and amenities 
 

VE 5 Available and accessible information for visitors 
 

VC 3 Access to services 
  

 

5.3 The Lake District Local Plan  

Note - draft text – will be updated in the final document  to reflect progress with the Local Plan 

The Partnership Plan, outlined above, provides the strategic direction and policies for the Lake 
District National Park.  The Local Plan translates and further defines those strategic partnership 
policies where they are pertinent to the planning system into a set of planning policies. The Local 
Plan provides the framework for planning matters, and where appropriate provides spatial detail for 
planning policies (e.g. housing land allocations) for the National Park. 
 

Page 31



 

12 
 

The planning policies in the Local Plan operate across the National Park and apply to Windermere, 
both the lake and its immediate environs, as well as all of the lakes and tarns of the Lake District. 
 
The current review of the Local Plan is updating and revising the policies and spatial definition, 
where required, and will be adopted in 2018. The review offers the opportunity to reflect the 
priorities in this Action Plan for Windermere within the Local Plan; conversely, achieving the 
Breakthrough Actions within this Action Plan will need to be compatible with the direction and 
planning policies in the Local Plan. 
 
Officers from LDNPA and SLDC will continue to work with the LDNPA Local Plan team to ensure that 
these connections and synergies are identified and maximised during the drafting process for the 
Local Plan. 
 
5.4 Existing plans  

Below the Partnership Plan sits a suite of key plan documents that provide the more detailed 

delivery framework for action on and around the lake over the next six years – set out in Table 5. 

These documents have often been developed through partnership working to address specific 

opportunities and issues, and therefore operate at differing scales, including local authority 

boundaries, catchment boundaries and specific locations for action.  

Importantly, this Action Plan does not collate all of the actions from these plans that relate to 

Windermere. However, they have been considered when developing and shaping the content of the 

Action Plan. If actions are in these existing and emerging plans then they have not been duplicated 

here. This is an important part of focusing the Action Plan on to what is not happening but needs to, 

rather than collating what is already planned. 

Each of these plan documents has its own structure and governance for delivery and review. Again, 

this Action Plan and the governance of it does not aim to duplicate those arrangements. 

Table 5 – key plans that include actions for or affecting Lake Windermere 

Plan document Lead 
organisation/partn
ership 

Period of plan Notes/current position 

Lake District Local 
Development Framework – 
now Local Plan 

Lake District 
National Park 
Authority 

October 2010 - 
present 

Includes Windermere 
Waterfront programme 
 
A review of the Local Plan is 
underway and is planned to 
completed in 2018 

South Lakeland District 
Council – Council Plan 

South Lakeland 
District Council  

2014-19 Strategic plan setting 
Council priorities and 
targets 

Cumbria Drought Plan 
 

United Utilities 2014 The Final Drought Plan was 
published in 2014. Following 
consultation the subsequent 
version was published as the 
Revised Draft Drought Plan 
2017 in February 2017. This 
is awaiting approval by 
Defra to become the Final 

Page 32



 

13 
 

Drought Plan 2017. 

Water Resources 
Management Plan 

United Utilities March 2015 - 
present 

Finalised March 2015, 
providing a forward view to 
2040. 
An annual review is 
undertaken to ensure the 
plan is fit for purpose. 

Cumbria Flood Action Plan  
- including Bowness on 
Windermere & 
Windermere Community 
Action Table 

Cumbria Flood 
Action Partnership 

June 2016 The June 16 plan provides a 
strategic position at county 
scale 
 
A detailed action plan is in 
place and being continually 
revised 
 
The Community Action 
Tables provide local detail 

‘See More’ Oxenholme to 
Grasmere Corridor Travel 
Plan 

Corridor Travel 
Plan Group – led by 
LDNPA and 
Cumbria County 
Council 

April 2016 Provides a strategic review 
and forward plan for 
developing and delivering 
world class visitor-focused 
transport services 
 
See more below. 

 

  

Page 33



 

14 
 

6. Delivering change: existing partnerships and programmes 
 

6.1 Understanding the partnership picture 

 

As outlined in section 5.1; Sections 5 and 6 of the Action Plan review the existing strategies + plans 

and the existing partnerships + programmes that influence and address the key issues for 

Windermere. This is critical to identifying what else needs to be done to address them and the 

development of the Breakthrough Actions that are the focus for this Action Plan. 

 

Just as the strategies and plans in section 5 provide the broader framework in which this plan sits so 

too do the partnerships that have developed and deliver them. Figure XX illustrates the framework 

of partnerships that link to this plan.  

6.2 Partnership working and sustainable development 

The effective planning, development and management of the lake’s environment, infrastructure and 

visitor facilities relies upon an effective and honest partnership of private, public and voluntary 

organisations. The importance of this three-way partnership approach to developing a sustainable 

world class visitor offer that is built on a high quality environment and natural capital cannot be 

overstated. 

  

Achieving sustainable development of the visitor experience, so that the environment of the lake 

and visitors enjoyment of that can be enhanced rather than diminished by further sensitive 

development, requires a challenging balance. The role of the private sector, particularly the key 

visitor location and travel operators, in achieving that balance is critical. Their enthusiasm to achieve 

an improved visitor offer that extends beyond their own operations, particularly via the Windermere 

Waterfront Programme, has enabled this balance to be achieved – and to continue to be improved 

through this six-year plan. 

 

The critical role for the public organisations, particularly through the planning system, is to enable 

both this partnership approach and the further sensitive, sustainable development of the lake that 

partners support. 

 

Within the Lake District – the UK’s most visited rural area – Lake Windermere is both iconic and 

highly popular for visitors. This plan plays an important part in achieving the balance between 

managing for its high quality environment and for its visitors, which means that its development is 

both sustainable and supports a thriving local tourism economy. 

 

6.3  Water management partnerships + programmes 

 

6.3.1 South Cumbria Catchment Partnership  

The key partnership for Windermere’s environment is the South Cumbria Catchment Partnership, 

which is focused on taking a catchment based approach to managing the lake’s hydrological system. 

The catchment based approach helps to bridge the gap between strategic management planning at 

river basin district level and activity at the local lake scale. This approach aims to encourage groups 

to work together more effectively to deal with environmental problems locally. 

Page 34



 

15 
 

 

The South Cumbria Catchment Partnership is hosted by the South Cumbria Rivers Trust and builds on 

the catchment based approach.  The Partnership’s aim is to work at a catchment level with key 

stakeholders, to agree and deliver the strategic priorities for the catchment which will result in 

multiple benefits including improvements to water quality, enhanced biodiversity, reduced flood 

risk, resilience to climate change and greater community engagement with their local river. 

 

The Catchment Hosts are developing a story map for the catchment.  This is a series of interactive 

maps presenting the data and evidence underpinning the partnership's catchment management 

plan. 

 

For more info see www.scrt.org.uk 

 

6.3.2 The Cumbria Flood Action Plan 

 

The Cumbria Flood Action Plan was first published in June 2016 in response to the December 2015 

floods.  It sets out what is needed to manage flood risk in Cumbria from river source to sea. 

The plan is set out in three parts 

 a summary document – giving an overview of the actions the Environment Agency and its 

partners have taken since December 2015, plans to prepare for flooding in the future and an 

overview of the ‘catchment approach’ to flood risk management.  

 an action plan – presenting a full list of the actions identified so far to manage flood risk and 

make Cumbria more resilient.  

 a series of community action tables – detailing the suite of actions identified in particular towns 

and villages. 

  

The action plan is a living document and will be continually updated to capture the further actions 

and suggestions based on new data and information gathered whilst working with local partners and 

communities.  

 

The summary document, action plan and relevant community action tables can be found at; 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cumbria-flood-action-plan 

 

6.3.3 The Catchment Management Groups 

 
Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership has created three Catchment Management Groups (CMG) to 

achieve a new integrated approach to managing flood risk across Cumbria, by looking at all options 

for how flood risk can be reduced in Cumbria. These groups are the first of their kind in the country 

and bring together the expertise of all those with water and land management experience to look at 

what can be done to protect both residential and farming communities. 

 

South Cumbria Rivers Trust has been asked to establish, develop and chair the South Cumbria 

Catchment Management Group.  As outlined above, SCRT is a DEFRA "Catchment Host" appointed 

under the "Catchment Based Approach" initiative.  Through this initiative, SCRT has established the 

South Cumbria Catchment Partnership, comprising of key partners including environmental 

Page 35

http://www.scrt.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cumbria-flood-action-plan


 

16 
 

organisations and community representatives.  This existing structure therefore supports the key 

drivers of the new CMG approach in terms of collaborative working and catchment based approach. 

 

The Catchment Management Groups will bring together all organisations involved in the delivery of 

catchment wide projects. These include environmental organisations, flood risk management 

authorities and representatives of land owners and land managers. 

 

The focus of the CMGs will initially be upon natural flood risk management opportunities and the 

collaboration between those that own, manage or work on catchment land, and those with 

regulatory responsibility for water and flood management within the statutory authorities, whilst 

recognising the multiple environmental benefits that natural flood management opportunities 

provide. 

 

Over time other catchment partnership priorities will be integrated into those of the catchment 

management groups, for example reducing the impacts of barriers to fish migration and 

improvements to water quality and habitats.  It is envisaged that the Catchment Partnership and 

Catchment Management Group will become fully integrated in time.  

 

The CMG will continue to work with the Environment Agency as they undertake an appraisal of 

options to manage flood risk within the catchment, which includes Lake Windermere and the linked 

flood risk to communities downstream on the River Leven at Newby Bridge and Backbarrow. The 

options appraisal process will be used to highlight and maximise Natural Flood Risk Management 

opportunities. 

 

6.3.4 Investing for water quality - United Utilities programme  

United Utilities work is aimed at providing long term benefits for Lake Windermere and lakeside 

communities by: 

• contributing to reduced levels of phosphorus in Windermere  

• building a more resilient wastewater network  

• enhancing the amenity value of the lake 

  

To help provide further water quality improvements, United Utilities are carrying out a project to 

install a new 6.5km wastewater pipeline from Bowness-on-Windermere along the A592 to 

Windermere Wastewater Treatment Works (Tower Wood), to be completed by spring 2019.  A 

programme of upgrade work at Windermere and Ambleside Wastewater Treatment Works is also 

planned.  

Further planned wastewater improvements to be delivered: 

 Implementation of advance Phosphorous removal technology at Windermere WwTW with 
significant treatment process upgrades to the existing works. 

 Significant upgrades and extensions to the existing treatment processes at Ambleside 
WwTW will also be made. 

 Spill frequency reduction at Glebe Rd Pumping Station to Lake at Cockshott Point being 

reduced from 250+ per annum to fewer than 30 times per annum 

Page 36



 

17 
 

Proposed water level mitigation management to be implemented: 

 Trial water bank agreement signed between EA and UU for operation of the fishery sluice 
during periods of dry weather. This agreement is to assist the conservation of fisheries and 
ecology in the River Leven.  

 

6.4 Wider partnerships + programmes 

6.4.1 Windermere Waterfront Programme 

The Windermere Waterfront Programme aims to ensure that Lake Windermere is at the heart of a 

cohesive destination providing a sustainable, world class visitor experience. The programme includes 

a mix of private and public sector projects around the lake that together will be a step change in the 

visitor offer of the lake and the Lake District. The development of these projects, many of them 

commercial, has significant potential to secure further sustainable development and grow the local 

visitor economy on and around the lake over the coming years. 

Each project has its own delivery lead – from the private, voluntary and public sectors. As major 

projects they each have their own, often long, lead-in time before physical delivery ‘on the ground’ 

is apparent. Planning, funding and other factors take a while. 

Some of these major projects within the Windermere Waterfront programme that are planned, 

underway or have been recently completed are shown in Map 2, and include: 

 Fell Foot redevelopment – led by National Trust 

 Windermere Jetty, Museum of Boats, Steam and Stories – led by  Lakeland Arts 

 Lake District Visitor Centre, Brockhole redevelopment – led by LDNPA 

 Bowness Bay Waterfront and The Glebe – led by Cumbria County Council and South 

Lakeland District Council 

As these are projects that are planned, underway or complete they do not appear as Breakthrough 

Actions in this plan. However, they will each contribute in different ways to the lake.  

Enabling visitors to access and enjoy them, as part of the bigger picture of possible visitor 

experiences, is an aspiration for the Waterfront programme. While many of the projects have been 

developed ensuring access and connectivity to them, where possible via sustainable transport 

options, has been harder to achieve.  

Therefore these projects will be part of Breakthrough Action 1 – Improve the non-car dependent 

visitor offer around the lake. This action aims to help bring these and other visitor opportunities into 

a more coherent and better connected set of options that can be accessed by non-car transport. 

The completion of the major projects above together with the delivery of improved connectivity 

through Breakthrough Action 1 has the potential to sustain and grow the visitor economy of the 

lake, benefitting businesses and local communities around the lake. These benefits will reach well 

beyond the various lead companies and organisations taking the individual projects forward. 

The Windermere Waterfront programme is outlined further within the Lake District Local Plan Core 

Strategy document, 2010, in pages 47-50. 

Page 37



 

18 
 

6.4.2 Sustainable travel: the Travel Corridor Plan 

‘See More Cumbria and the Lake District’ (aka See More) is a partnership programme to maximise 

the economic benefit and increase sustainability of travel in the county by focussing on the quality of 

visitor travel. 

The objectives of See More include:    

 Transform the quality of transfer and travel from gateways into Cumbria, in particular the 

Lake District, and on to the prime visitor destinations 

 Change the image of sustainable travel, making a further shift to low carbon travel becoming 

a default choice 

 Optimise the economic benefits from people’s travel choices; in focusing on international 

visitor demands as the main generator of economic benefit, it will produce viable transport 

services for domestic visitors and residents   

The See More corridor travel planning programme focused on a strategic approach to four key travel 

corridors in Cumbria, including the Oxenholme to Grasmere Corridor, which has its own Corridor 

Plan. The focus of the Corridor Plan is on changing the travel choices visitors make. The Corridor Plan 

extends well beyond the area of this plan, but is highly relevant as all of the visitors to the lake will 

have arrived here through that corridor. 

Two areas of major synergy between this plan and the Corridor Plan, which are included within it 

are: 

 Improving visitor travel by developing integrated services and infrastructure, including cycle 

routes and car parking, with a particular focus on the main travel routes into these areas.  

 Encouraging the providers of travel services and attractions to work together to offer 

combined deals for travel and attractions, which are tailored to visitor demands.   

During the last Lake Windermere Strategy period the Go Lakes Travel Programme achieve good 

progress on sustainable travel improvements, including high quality cycle routes, a network of jetties 

for lake services to make frequent stops at, buses and boats that carry bikes, improved railway 

station facilities, electric cars for hire by the hour, and more.   

The Oxenholme to Grasmere Corridor Plan continues that development, and combines further 

infrastructure additions and improvement with a stronger emphasis on changing patterns of use by 

visitors. 

The key Breakthrough Action in this plan to improve sustainable travel and access is – 

Breakthrough Action 1: Improve the non-car dependent visitor offer around the lake by 

improving connectivity and integrated ‘packaging’ of non-car transport, parking, visitor 

attractions, public access and informal recreation options  

To achieve this as part of the wider strategic approach to sustainable travel contained on the 

Corridor Plan it is proposed to work through the existing Corridor Travel Group to implement the 

Breakthrough Action.  

 

Page 38



 

19 
 

   

Page 39



 

20 
 

7. Achieving the Breakthrough Actions  

7.1 What are the Breakthrough Actions? 

The Breakthrough Actions are the focus of this plan, and are aimed at delivering significant change 

and progress over the life of this plan to address the key challenges and issues identified in section 3. 

These Breakthrough Actions are above and beyond the wide-ranging work already planned for Lake 

Windermere through the existing partnerships and their current and emerging strategies, as 

outlined in Sections 5 and 6. 

They are based on partners and stakeholders awareness of opportunities to work more closely and 

realise benefits through partnership working. All of the partners and stakeholders involved in 

delivering the Breakthrough Actions are also involved in one or more of the existing strategies and 

plans. This will help to connect and integrate this plan with wider action for the lake and area.  

The Breakthrough Actions have been arrived at following an assessment of the key challenges for 

Lake Windermere set out in section 3, and the range of actions already underway or planned within 

existing strategies, plans and partnerships set out in sections 5 and 6.  

Through engagement with partners and stakeholders, the priorities for action have been distilled 

down to 7 Breakthrough Actions, set out below. 

 

Breakthrough Action Purpose Lead 
organisation 

Action 1: Improve the non-

car dependent visitor offer 

around the lake by improving 

connectivity and integrated 

‘packaging’ of non-car transport, 

parking, visitor attractions, public 

access and informal recreation 

options 

To promote non-car transport as the 
‘mode of choice’ to access integrated 
visitor opportunities around the lake. 
To enable increased use by visitors of 
existing and emerging infrastructure 
and visitor attractions via flexible, low-
carbon ‘packaging’ of options. 

Lake District 
National Park 
Authority 

Action 2: Improve the shore 

access network in the south 

west of the lake  

To improve accessibility and 

connectivity of access, and increase 

sustainable use of the south-west 

shore of the lake 

Lake District 
National Park 
Authority 

Action 3: Effectively manage 

lake swimming through better 

evidence, understanding needs and 

improving key locations 

To proactively manage increasing 
recreational lake swimming by 
improving awareness, safety, access 
and informal facilities 

South Lakeland 
District Council 
+ Lake District 
National Park 
Authority 

Action 4: Enhance the boat 

user experience through 

To improve the ‘offer’ for existing and 
new boat users of both powered and 
non-powered craft and encourage 

South Lakeland 
District Council 

Page 40



 

21 
 

improved infrastructure and 

information at existing locations 

increased sustainable use 

Action 5: Improve the 
resilience of public 
infrastructure and access 
around the lake to extremes of lake 
level fluctuations 

To reduce the impacts of lake level 
extremes – from both flooding and 
drought - on public infrastructure and 
access provision, minimising the 
effects on local communities, economy 
and the environment    
 

To be confirmed 
in discussion 
with the 
Catchment 
Management 
Group 
 

Action 6: Improve the key 
biodiversity/natural capital 
assets of the lake and it shore, and 

the public benefits this provides, by 
identifying and implementing practical 
action 
 
 

To halt declines of all habitats and 
species in and around the lake; 
develop a pipeline of feasible and 
deliverable projects targeted on 
improving key habitats and species;  
and identify, secure and improve the 
public benefits this natural capital 
provides  

South Cumbria 
Rivers Trust 

Action 7: Develop a 
monitoring and reporting 
framework for delivery of the 
Action Plan including an 

intelligence base that also enables 
existing and emerging risks and issues 
to be identified, understood and 
assessed 

To enable partners and stakeholders 
to pool knowledge and work together 
to effectively monitor progress with 
addressing current issues and 
proactively assess emerging risks for 
the lake and its shores 

Action Plan 
delivery group 

 

For the full  detail of each action, who will take them forward and the 

timetable for delivery see Annex 1 

 

 

  

Page 41



 

22 
 

8. Delivering and monitoring the Action Plan 

8.1 Structure for effective delivery 

Delivery of the Plan requires collaborative partnership working. The review of the previous plan – 

see section 1.2 – highlighted the need for improvement in relationships and ways of working and 

informs the new proposed arrangements:  

 

a) Collaborative partnership working  - a new ‘Action Plan Delivery Group’ will bring together the 

lead organisations responsible for delivery with representatives of lake communities and users 

to have oversight of this Action Plan. 

 

Stakeholders identified during the engagement process for this plan that linkages to planned 

work by existing partnerships on water quality and water levels, both flood and low levels, is 

critical to the success of the Action Plan. To build connections and ensure synergy with the work 

of the Catchment Partnership they will be invited to have a representative on the Delivery 

Group. The Catchment Partnership is also involved in flood risk management. The connection 

with the informal group considering low water levels is also important and the Delivery Group 

will consider how best to connect with them as the Group is set-up. 

 

The review also recognised that reconciling tensions between partners, stakeholders and users 

needed to be achieved through more collaborative and open ways of working. The new group 

will be focused on the delivery of the Breakthrough Actions in section 6. Those actions require 

joint working if they are going to be delivered, with new groupings of organisations being forged 

to make them happen. This will foster new relationships and through that better understanding. 

b) Focused action planning – this Action Plan and the approach it has taken is key to ensuring there 

is a common understanding of what the aim for Lake Windermere over the next 5 years is, and 

the specific Breakthrough Actions to achieve it. This will also help define what is not being 

covered by the ‘Action Plan Delivery Group’, as they will focus on the specific actions in this plan. 

 

The clarity of purpose for this new group to deliver the actions in this plan will also help to shape 

stronger relationships 

 

c) Shared ownership of the actions – the approach in this plan is to be clear on who is the lead for 

each Breakthrough Action, sub-actions and the membership of the new ‘Action Plan Delivery 

Group’.  

 

The Delivery Group  will help connect work between projects as well as provide shared 

ownership for the full set of actions in this plan. The lead for each Breakthrough Action will be 

tasked with bringing together the partners involved in delivery of the sub-actions, which will 

again enable stronger connection and linkage across the actions. 

 

8.2 Principles to be adopted by the Action Plan Delivery Group 

Reflecting on the feedback over partnership working, summarised in section 2.3, the following 

principles for the governance approach to be adopted are: 

Page 42



 

23 
 

 The focus is on achieving the actions in this plan 

 The governance approach is positive and supportive, enabling the actions to be delivered 

through collaboration 

 And it is dynamic, able to respond to new opportunities and risks, re-prioritise when 

necessary and address changing resources 

 Key delivery organisations are at the core  

 Lake users and community representatives are included  

 The structure fosters links between partners not only at strategic level but also at the project 

level, supporting the development and delivery of the Breakthrough Actions in the plan – 

particularly those that currently do not have a lead 

 Monitoring is integral to the structure, with clear milestones and outcomes per action 

helping the focus on progress 

 Support with resources or funding, if needed 

8.3 Monitoring 

Effective monitoring, informing adjustments to the Action Plan will help ensure the plan and the 

‘Action Plan Delivery Group’ remain relevant and dynamic to changes affecting Lake Windermere.  

 

The purpose of monitoring will be three-fold: 

 Assess performance and progress with the individual actions and sub-actions 

 Identify achievements and progress with the overall plan 

 Review and refine the actions – in light of performance, changing circumstances, new 

opportunities and resources 

 

This will delivered by: 

 annual monitoring of progress, with an annual progress report on delivery of the Action 

Plan. This will report on progress with delivery of the Breakthrough Actions, with the 

reporting being led by the action leads. 

The annual progress report will also identify what changes to actions are needed, including 

making the most of new opportunities to take forward the actions, and changes to timings.  

 Development of a monitoring framework for the plan – this is Breakthrough Action 7; see  

section 6 and Annex 1 for more detail. It will report on both progress against the actions and 

outcomes. The framework will bring reporting on all the actions together into one place so 

that there is a simple and coherent approach. 

 Provide informal in-year feedback on progress and barriers to delivery of the Breakthrough 

Actions via the meetings of the Action Plan Delivery Group.  

 Provide informal feedback on the actions and progress with the strategies and plans of 

other key partnerships working around Windermere via the meetings of the Action Plan 

Delivery Group, and potentially through an annual conference open to all involved in 

actions around Windermere. This annual conference could have a different focus and theme 

each year to enable in-depth discussion on specific topics and issues. 

8.4 Authority oversight 

 

Page 43



 

24 
 

Overall progress towards Plan delivery and proposals for change will be reviewed through a 

Member Steering Group comprising members from the LDNPA and SLDC’s Lake Administration 

Committee. Subject to approval of the two authorities, this arrangement will be a revision of the 

existing Windermere Management Strategy Working Group. 

  

Page 44



 

25 
 

Annex 1 – Table of Breakthrough Actions, 2017-22 

 

Insert separate document – which is A3 format  

Page 45



 

26 
 

Annex 2 – Lake Windermere strategy 2011: review of progress with key actions 

 

Topic/action Key achievements and progress 
 

Key actions NOT progressed 
  

Section A 
A Prosperous 
Economy 

 Steamboat museum underway (delayed 
completion date) 

 Brockhole visitor centre redevelopment, 
Stage 1 – replacement jetty, watersports 
provision + high ropes course 

 Planning approval and encroachment 
approval for marina development at Bowness 
Bay 

 Planning approval for Low Wood Hotel 
conference centre 

 Fell Foot redevelopment (planning permission 
secured, delivery commencing late 2016) 

 

Section B 
World class Visitor 
Experience 

 Delivery of Lake Patrol service 
 Delivery of Lake Warden service 
 Confirmation of speed limit and revised lake 

byelaws  
 new jetties at Bark Barn and YMCA Lakeside 
 Operation of Windermere Lake User Forum 
 Access to Western Shore route improvements 
 Cycle route improvements and linkage 
 Advice to major recreational and challenge 

events 
 West shore tender storage improvements 
 Swimming safety advice – e.g. Swim Safe 

programme 
 New marina development at Ferry Nab, 

including provision of increase in public jetty 
space 

 Additional visitor moorings  laid at 
Waterhead, following investigations which 
concluded public jetty extension was not 
feasible 

 Access network development for southern 
node has been investigated 

 Use of YMCA pier and public access to/from it  
 Boat Safety Scheme investigated and decision 

not t proceed. 

 Improving rights of 
way network and 
informal recreation 
around Windermere 
area 

 Investigate increased 
swimming activity  
 

Section C 
Vibrant 
Communities 
 
 

Traffic and transport -  
 Extension of waterbus and steamer services, 

including Bark Barn jetty 
 Integrated ticketing/packaging of travel and 

activities e.g.  GoLakes ticketing; bike and 
boat ticketing 

 Development of northern basin sustainable 

travel hub –integrated ticketing of bus and 

boat; High Wray by boat & bike-boat; SLDC 

car parking / bus ticketing; Ferry House-

Hawkshead minibus   

 

Page 46



 

27 
 

 Development of southern basin sustainable 
travel hub – integrated ticketing; bus ticketing 
linking to Newby Bridge.  

 Electric car recharging  points installed in key 
locations 

 Increase in cycle parking – e.g. Ferry Nab 
 
Historic environment –  

 Inform and  increase awareness of historic 
heritage – Windermere Reflections projects 

 Reinstatement of Claife Station viewing 
station 

Section C 
Spectacular 
Landscape 

Landscape –  
 Increase awareness of cultural heritage and 

management – Windermere Reflections 
projects 

 
Water –  
Progress key actions on Windermere Catchment 
Restoration Programme - 

 Bowness Bay and Glebe waste water scheme 
 Diffuse pollution + phosphorus investigations 
 Diffuse pollution priority actions – farm 

inputs; septic tanks 
 ‘Love your Lakes’ visitor business greening 

scheme 
 Sustainable drainage systems via planning 

permissions 
 
Review water level management of the lake 

 Drought management – review of Drought 
Management Plan, including abstraction, 
underway  

 Cumbria Flood Partnership – Windermere 
Catchment flood plan under development 

 
Nature conservation –  

 Awareness raising of Invasive Non-Native 
Species – and role of lake users in prevention. 
E.g CfINNS and Windermere Reflections 
projects 

 Restore the Shore Windermere Reflections 
project 

 Ongoing scientific monitoring – fish 
populations; macrophytes; water quality 

 Review and reduction of moorings in sensitive 
locations 

 Ongoing geese management – discussion; 
investigation of non lethal alternatives; 
continuation of ‘egg oiling’   

 Tranquillity around 
the lake study 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Work with lake users 
to protect and 
promote winter 
wildlife refuges  

 Upgrading of nature 
conservation data to 
identify sensitive 
areas 

 
 
 

  

Page 47



 

28 
 

Annex 3 Summary analysis of the key management issues for Windermere 

 

A synopsis of each issue below summarises the stakeholder feedback. These synopses provide only 

the headlines from what were detailed discussions that provided very helpful insight in to the ways 

forward as well as the problems. 

 

Issue 1 - Integrated sustainable transport and access 

Headlines – The popularity of the Lake Windermere area, which is the premier outdoor visitor 

destination in England, leads to two distinct but also very connected needs – sustainable non-car 

transport; recreational access provision.  

Most of the key partners identified that continuing to develop non-car transport provision and 

access networks (foot, bike and all ability) are very important. The current scale and recent growth in 

Lake District visitor numbers makes these high priority. Partners recognise that access and transport 

are critical to the visitor experience, and the scale and quality of provision impacts on the visitor 

economy, including repeat visit levels. 

Action to improve recreational access particularly needs to address network connectivity. The west 

shore access improvements under the previous plan are seen as an excellent example of successful 

partnership working to achieve this. Future access improvement needs are focused in the east and 

around the south of the lake.   

The Windermere Waterfront Programme has helped co-ordinate a number of major Investments, 

which commenced during the previous plan, to develop of a number major visitor attractions and 

facilities – see Map 2. While there have been delays to some of these they are recognised as being 

very positive for the visitor offer and economy. So too are improvements in access and transport, 

particularly along the west shore with the provision of a ‘bike boat’ service providing better 

connectivity and integrated access options.  

Sufficient half-day and longer parking capacity is an important component of enabling people to 

leave their cars behind and onto bike, boat, bus and foot.  However, current parking provision is 

mainly aimed at shorter stay, which is a barrier to increasing the numbers eaving their car for 4 

hours or more. There are good examples where longer term parking and a shoft to non-car travel is 

encouraged, for example at the Lakeland Motor Museum and its shuttle bus service. 

New jetties developed during the previous plan are widely welcomed, although connections to and 

use of these is variable. There is continuing demand for further provision in key locations. 

Stakeholders recognise that lack of opportunities due to private ownership constraints are a major 

barrier to extending access and jetty provision.  

Planned action – many visitor attraction/facility projects are underway and will be completed in this 

plan period. However, continuing to improve access networks and sustainable transport 

opportunities are current gaps which impact on achieving better connectivity. Encouraging and 

promoting car parking provision is seen as a key component of achieving a significant shift to 

sustainable transport.  

Issue 2 – Visitor economy and offer  

Headlines - The impact of the Storm Desmond floods in December 2015 highlighted the vulnerability 

of many tourism businesses on and around the lake to both direct flood impacts and to the resulting 

Page 48



 

29 
 

decrease in visitor numbers. This starkly demonstrated the critical connection between natural 

capital of the lake, the visitor offer and the local visitor economy. 

Integrated transport provision, for example via joined up ticketing, has been a success. However, 

there are concerns that momentum with improving sustainable transport could be lost as currently 

funded projects end.  

The consensus from stakeholders is that while the lake has many visitor opportunities these are not 

being sufficiently promoted as an integrated offer to visitors of packages that combine use of the 

access network, visits to visitor attractions, non-car transport and parking. The latter is important 

because the first step for many visitors to explore the lake without a car is to be able to park it. Car 

parks are therefore often the first point of contact for visitors to the lake. 

Integrated packaging and communication of the existing access network and transport options (e.g. 

developing circular walks of varying duration/difficulty with boat and bus travel options) is seen as 

key to making best use of the existing infrastructure. This communication activity is of equal priority 

to providing more or improved infrastructure and transport options. 

Improvements and ongoing maintenance of the physical infrastructure of bridleways, paths and 

jetties is still required. Securing a more connected and coherent path network in the east and south 

lake shores is seen as a priority.  

The visitor offer is very connected to the state of the lake’s natural capital. Drought and low water 

levels can be a hindrance to commercial and large recreational craft use, affecting many visitors and 

a potential constraint to further integration of access and non-car transport. Conversely, 

improvement to water quality following major investments in the previous plan period has helped 

improve the image of the lake for visitors. 

Concern exists that the visitor experience of the lake may be diminished through trying to achieve 

too many users and uses of the lake in ‘hotspot’ locations. The provision of improved access for 

steamers, power and large sailing boats through jetty development, for example, may not be 

compatible with also promoting use of the same location for swimming and family-focused 

watersports in much smaller boats and kayaks. Appropriate mixes of use need to be considered. 

Planned action – completion of the major visitor attractions is already planned, with co-ordination 

via the Windermere Waterfront Programme and other partnerships. Better connectivity and 

integration of the visitor offer through ‘park-travel-access’ packaging is not being addressed through 

existing groups. Access connectivity and improvements are being assessed for the south of the lake 

but a plan to deliver this is not yet fully in place. 

Issue 3 - Changing demand from lake users 

Headlines - Overall there is consensus that ‘quiet enjoyment’ of the lake by users on the lake is being 

achieved. The increase in swimming is an indicator of increasing ‘low impact’ use. However, some 

user groups see their use of the lake as in decline. 

The use of the lake by boat users, both powered and sailing is changing. The demand of moorings 

has decreased over the past 3 years while there is increased demand for pontoon berths, evidence 

by the over-subscription for new provision. There are concerns that the lack of provision for regular 

boat users of temporary jetty places and moorings at jetties and key locations is leading to a lack of 

Page 49



 

30 
 

opportunities. As one stakeholder succinctly noted “You can only sit on a boat for so long – you 

eventually need to go somewhere”. 

 

There is also a perceived lack of information on what berthing and boat use provision is available, 

where and for how long. This indicates that the opportunities from investments in existing 

infrastructure, including recently constructed jetties, are not being fully realised. As a result the offer 

for boat users is seen as tired and out-dated. 

 

The most notable change in use of the lake is the rise in the popularity of lake swimming. Organised 

events- particularly the Great North Swim - and television series have highlighted opportunities, and 

driven rapid growth in individuals use. This use does not require specific infrastructure and while 

there are clubs the anecdotal evidence is that most swimmers are not members. The lack of user 

groups and data on use makes assessing the scale and pattern of use difficult.  

 

The increase of lake swimming is having direct benefits for the local economy and for users’ 

enjoyment of the lake. There is also recognition that increased swimming could lead to conflicts and 

risks from other users. Raising awareness of these risks, ensuring safe practice across users and 

making appropriate provision for lake swimmers is seen by many stakeholders as important as this 

use develops. 

 

While water quality has improved as a result of capital investment on treatment in the last strategy 

period there remain issues over diffuse pollution and storm events. The four Designated Bathing 

Waters around the lake do not capture the extent of where is important for swimming – water 

quality is relevant for swimmers across the entire lake.  

 

Finally, there are concerns that action to increase and improve access for steamers, powered and 

larger sailing craft at hotspot locations may not be compatible with also encouraging small boat, 

swimming and family-based watersports. Safety concerns have been raised about inappropriate 

mixing of waterpsort uses at key locations. The right balance of safety and operational requirements 

is needed alongside improving the visitor experience. 

 

Planned action- low membership of swimming groups make engagement with users difficult. The  

SwimSafe and BoatSafe initiatives are ongoing, as are commercially organised events. There is a 

need understand the needs of swimmers and manage for them around the lake. 

Issue 4 - Water levels: flood and drought 

Increasing the resilience of private businesses and public infrastructure to such events is seen as a 

future priority, and a route to addressing ‘insurance blight’. 

Headlines - Changing climate and weather patterns is increasing uncertainty and risk of damage and 

disruption from flood and drought events to the natural capital of the lake, to communities and for 

businesses. 

The impact on local communities, businesses and the visitor economy of the Decemebr 2015 floods 

and earlier events in 2009, 2012, are recognised by all stakeholders as demonstrating the 

importance of increasing flood resilience. They also highlighted the vulnerability of many tourism 

Page 50



 

31 
 

businesses to direct flood impacts and to the wider risk to the visitor economy through decreased 

visitor numbers.  

There is shared acknowledgement that ‘return to normal’ is not a viable response. Business 

stakeholders underlined that businesses would not be able to recover from a repeat flood of similar 

scale. The lack of flood risk insurance for commercial property is a significant concerns and barrier to 

future investment for businesses at risk. 

The shared view is that increasing flood resilience is a priority, for commercial and domestic 

buildings, and for the lake’s infrastructure – for example, footpaths, cycle tracks and jetties. There 

are good examples of flood resilience being built in to new and refurbishment projects – e.g. Ferry 

Nab building upgrade; Windermere Marina Village proposals. 

The impacts of lower water levels during drought periods, exacerbated by the abstraction of raw 

water for domestic supply, illustrates the tension between different users who make use of the 

lake’s natural capital. While abstraction is of benefit for water supply customers throughout the 

North West it can particularly impact on commercial and large recreational craft users, with knock-

on effects for visitors. This can impact on the operation and revenue of these commercial operators, 

and on marinas and other supporting services. 

Planned action-  

The extreme flood event of December 2015 has led to a focus on multi-agency partnership flood 

planning. In response to the flood event, the Windermere Flood Investigation Report has been 

completed by the Environment Agency working in partnership with Cumbria County Council as the 

Lead Local Flood Authority, under the duties as set out in Section 19 of the Flood and Water 

Management Act 2010. This report provides details on the flooding that occurred in the Windermere 

area on the 5th and 6th of December, and has used a range of data collected from affected 

residents, site visits, surveys of the area, and data collected by observers, along with river and 

rainfall telemetry during the flood event. 

The Cumbria Flood Partnership has published the Cumbria Flood Action Plan which has Community 

Action Tables for Ambleside, Windermere and Troutbeck.  The Cumbria Flood Action Plan is a live 

document and will be updated based on new information and data gathered whilst working in with 

local  

United Utilities Drought Management Plan 2014 is in place. A review process, including abstraction 

and study of drought impact mitigation are currently underway. 

Issue 5 - water quality  
Headlines – Investments in waste water treatment capability in the last plan period and currently 
ongoing, particularly the upgrading of the Tower Wood waste water treatment works, will 
significantly reduce one of the key point sources of pollution, including phosphorous, into the lake. 
There has also been a focus on advice to farmers in the catchment on land management practice to 
avoid diffuse pollution from agriculture.  
 
There are three remaining key challenges: diffuse pollution; storm overflows which create ‘spikes’ in 
combined storm water and sewage discharge; and seasonal variation in output of sewage from a 
very seasonal visitor economy.  
 

Page 51



 

32 
 

These challenges impact upon other topics and users. For example, when rain water and sewage are 
released untreated into the lake as storm overflows they impact on recreational users, particularly 
lake swimmers. This can also affect users of key locations  
 
The old combined sewage and street drainage system in Bowness and Windermere is a major factor 
in the storm overflow issue. Massive investment would be required to address this, requiring major 
system renewal and more storm overflow tank capacity.  
 
Planned action - United Utilities asset management plans and investment programme; Windermere 
and Leven Catchment Management Partnership. While the impact of current pollution and poor 
water quality impacts on lake users, some of the sources and causes are being addressed through 
these existing programmes. 
 

Issue 6 - Biodiversity and natural capital decline 

Headlines – Invasive Non Native Species (INNS) are a growing problem affecting the ecology of the 

lake and important areas for wildlife around its shore. Action in the last plan period focused on 

information and awareness raising for lake users (e.g. BoatSafe user awareness project) and those 

undertaking construction works. Also, some activity on reducing the extent of invasive plants 

through physical management was undertaken.  

There is a shared view that more could be achieved through effective join up between partners 

involved in INNS management – both in awareness raising and in direct management. Intelligence on 

the scale of the problem plus continuity of management is critical to successful control of INNS. 

However, stability of funding for future work on INNS across the next plan period is not secure. 

 

There is both anecdotal and hard evidence of biodiversity decline across key wildlife habitats and 

species over many years. The decline of the Arctic Char population and of reed bed habitat around 

the lake are both well evidenced. Data for other habitats and species is poorer – for example, 

mapping data for key habitats is up to 30 years old.  

 

This has resulted in a lack of direction and clarity on priorities for action to halt biodiversity declines 

and to improve the state of the existing resource.  

 

Applying natural capital thinking to demonstrate the interdependence of people on the natural 

assets of the area has excellent potential. The linkage between the state of the natural capital (or 

assets), the many benefits people draw from that natural capital (from recreation to drinking water) 

and the health of the local economy is very evident. The lake is a natural system which many people 

depend upon, understanding that interdependence could help shape effective management for 

nature and people. 

 

Planned action- South Cumbria Rivers Trust is co-ordinating action for INNS in the catchment, 

working with partners. However, while the INNS challenge for the lake is increasing future 

resourcing is not secure. Natural capital thinking has begun to be applied at the Lake District scale 

through action by the National Park Partnership. Lake Windermere offers a good opportunity for 

applying this at the lake system/catchment scale. 

  

Page 52



 

33 
 

Annex 4 - Relevant strategies from the ‘Management Plan for the Lake District, 2015-20’ 

Key strategies 

Strategy code Strategy heading – some are abbreviated Relevant 
Breakthrough 
Actions in this plan 

SL 4 Increased resilience to flooding 
 
a. Increase the resilience of the Lake District to flooding 
events. Flood resilience schemes will be tailored to 
provide the optimum solution for the 
catchment as a whole, balancing the need to reduce flood 
risk in towns and villages against potential impacts up and 
down stream, including on agricultural land. 
 
b. Mitigate and adapt to the increased likelihood and 
severity of flooding that is predicted to result from 
climate change. We will work with others, including local 
communities, land managers, and farmers to develop 
plans and projects which aim to increase resilience 

 
BA 5 

SL 7 Resilient and well-functioning habitats and wildlife 
 
a. Achieve bigger, better and more joined up resilient 
habitats and species in line 
with Biodiversity 2020 targets, by taking an ‘ecosystem 
approach’, delivering integrated programmes to enhance 
biodiversity, and restore ecosystem function through 
sensitive and improved management, recognising the 
multiple benefits for people and wildlife.  
 
b. Develop projects and programmes to halt further 
degradation and benefit those protected sites, priority 
habitats and species, including locally native species most 
in need of  ppropriate management measures.  
 
We will work with Local Nature Partnerships and others to 
improve habitats and control 
and eradicate invasive non-native species. 
 

 
BA 7 

PE 3 Increasing the number of staying visitors 
 
b. Promote areas which illustrate the reasons for National 
Park and World Heritage Site designations, with a 
particular emphasis on three Showcase Areas, as shown in 
Figure 34.  
 
Within these areas we will make it easy for 
visitors to move between attractions and destinations  

 
BA 1 

PE 11 Provision of infrastructure using roads, rail and boats 
 
c. Seek to ensure that maintenance and development of 
transport infrastructure allows for the delivery of 

 
BA 1, 4 

Page 53



 

34 
 

enhanced transport services to and within the Lake 
District. 

VE 6 Easy access to and within the Lake District, clear and 
easy orientation and choice of attractive travel options 
 
To transform visitor movement to, from and in the Lake 
District, focussing on changing the travel choices visitors 
make by: 
 
c. Improving visitor travel between Lake District 
attractions and destinations by enhancing their 
integration with services and infrastructure (for example 
cycle routes and car parking), both existing and proposed 
with a particular focus on the main travel routes identified 
in the Visitor Movement Maps  
This will build upon 
the success of the GoLakes Travel programme 

 
BA 1, 2, 4 

VC  7 Access to high quality amenity and recreation green 
spaces, public rights of way and facilities 
 
c. Continue to manage and maintain a high quality public 
rights of way network  

 
BA 1, 2, 3, 4 

 

Relevant strategies 

Strategy code Strategy heading – some are abbreviated 

SL1 A world-class living cultural landscape 
e. Support initiatives and land management practices that specifically adapt to 
and mitigate the predicted effects of climate change 

SL 2 Sustained distinctive and well maintained built and historic environment 
b. Develop projects and programmes for the coordinated management, 
conservation, enjoyment and understanding of built and historic 
environment assets 

SL 5 Improved water quality and resources in lakes, tarns, rivers, ground waters and 
sea 
 
a. Achieve ‘good’ or better than ‘good’ water quality as defined by the Water 
Framework Directive in all lakes, rivers, tarns, and ground waters by 
implementing best practice catchment management  
 
b. Sustain water resources in all lakes, rivers, tarns and ground waters by: 
i. Managing the extremes of high and low water levels and flows, to achieve 
optimum ecological habitats and populations. We will focus on 
water use, land management practices and water supply to achieve this. 
ii. Contributing to meeting water supply needs through the use of water bodies 
and provision of associated infrastructure where the 
environment, biodiversity, landscape, and public rights of use, including 
navigation, are protected. 
 
c. Achieve the highest attainable sea water quality including meeting targets 
for protected sites. 

SL 8  The continuation of the Lake District as a source of artistic and 

Page 54



 

35 
 

cultural inspiration 
b. Conserve, maintain, manage and make use of cultural heritage assets  
 
c. creating opportunities for inspiration through further developing visitor 
experiences and locally-led initiatives and events  

PE 4 Promote the Lake District as a year-round destination to a 
range of audiences at different times of year, with a particular focus on the 
experiences offered by: 

 Landscape and environment 

 Culture and heritage 

 Adventure 

 Hospitality, food and drink 
VE 1 Opportunity for experiences in a unique landscape 

a. Ensure that every visitor has the best experience that we can offer. 
 
b. Offer a breadth of experiences for visitors that benefit their health and 
wellbeing, and enhance understanding and appreciation of the Special 
Qualities and Outstanding Universal Value of the Lake District. We will 
use the inspiration of the cultural landscape and focus on the experiences 
offered by: 
• Landscape and environment 
• Culture and heritage 
• Adventure 

 Hospitality, food and drink 

VE2  
 

Responsible visiting 
a. Ensure a range opportunities are provided to embed understanding and 
appreciation of the Special Qualities and Outstanding Universal Value of 
the Lake District, tailored to the needs of dfferent audiences.  
 
b. Provide opportunities for people to give – to significantly increase the 
amount of voluntary contributions made by visitors.  
 
c. Bring together relevant organisations, including voluntary groups and 
charities, to identify where help is needed, and to develop and implement 
appropriate ways of coordinating these contributions accordingly. 

VE 4 Distinctive settlement character, quality public realm and amenities 
To have high quality public realm and amenities, prioritising 
improvements in locations where these are deficient. We will do this by 
developing, supporting and encouraging initiatives to enable funding or 
commitment to undertake improvements in a coordinated and consistent 
way 

VE 5 Available and accessible information for visitors 
a. Ensure visitors are able to easily access relevant information in a variety of 
ways and languages, with particular focus on further developing the o©cial 
visitor website and mobile application, and through visitor information 
centres and businesses providing information. 

VC 3 Access to services 
d. Improve visitor transport services in ways that also benefit residents wherever 
possible  

 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   ANNEX 1 to Appendix 1 

Explanation of the Breakthrough Actions table -   
Action number – for each Breakthrough Action 
 
Action – each Breakthrough Action is outlined, including the action, purpose and lead partner organisation.  
Breakthrough Actions are further divided into sub-actions, labelled a, b, c etc. Achieving each Breakthrough Action requires delivery of ALL of the 
component sub-actions. 
 
Complete by – indicates the when each action/sub-action is to be delivered by, and is the end date for completion. These will be reviewed and adjusted 
during the like of the plan, particularly as part of the annual monitoring cycle. 
For more the more complex sub-actions the tasks required to deliver it have been further split into a number of stages. Each stage has a ‘milestone’ 
delivery date; these will help with monitoring progress of the larger sub-actions. 
 
Lead partner – each Breakthrough Action has a lead partner. Their role is to lead on driving delivery of the action forward, engaging others to develop and 
then deliver the actions. They are also responsible for ensuring monitoring feedback for the Breakthrough Action is provided to feed into to the annual 
monitoring cycle. 
The Lead partner for each Breakthrough Action will be a member of the Action Plan Delivery Group. Lead partners may decide to form a sub-group to take 
forward the Breakthrough Action they are leading on; this will be decided in discussion with the Action Plan Delivery Group 
 
Resources - this outlines the current position with staff and funding resources required for each sub-action. This is a realistic assessment of where 
resourcing has been secured, is under consideration or has not yet been secured; based on discussions during the plan development period. 
In the first version if the plan many of the tasks will still require resourcing to be secured. Progress with achieving this will form part of monitoring, helping 
the plan delivery group to assess progress with taking forward each sub-action. 
 
Partnership delivery links – for some Breakthrough Actions there is an existing partnership which is already active around this topic. Where an action has 
been identified that has strong links to the work of an existing partnership but the plans for that partnership do not include the action a ‘Partnership 
delivery link’ is noted.  

 

 

Breakthrough Actions:  Windermere – Lake Action Plan, 2017-22  
 

Action 
number 

Action Complete 
by 
month/year 

Lead 
Partner  
other 
partners 

Resources 
staff + funding 

1 Action: Improve the non-car dependent visitor offer around the lake as part of a wider Oxenholme to Grasmere corridor project, by 

improving connectivity and integrated ‘packaging’ of non-car transport, parking, visitor attractions, public access and informal recreation 

options 

Purpose: to promote non-car transport as the ‘mode of choice’ to access integrated visitor opportunities around Lake Windermere and the 

wider Oxenholme to Grasmere corridor. To enable lake users – both visitors and residents - to leave their car and experience the lake via 

low-carbon ‘activity + travel packages’. To improve the health and well-being benefits from access around the lake. 

Achieving this integrating Breakthrough Action will require ALL of the elements below to be delivered 

 
Constraints: The need for new transport services to be commercially viable or have funding for subsidised operation will require this action 

to focus on promoting existing services, while the delivery of new public transport options will need to be prioritised on key gaps in the 

network that can be either viable or secure funding to operate. The consultation identified concerns about the condition and shared use of 

public roads just beyond the immediate environs of the lake. While these issues are not addressed in this plan, as they are beyond the area 

it covers, the demand for improving road condition, and the safety of road use by pedestrians and other non-car users will need to be 

addressed through other plans. 

 

Lead partner: Lake District National Park Authority 

 

Partnership delivery links: this action can be best achieved as part of implementation of the existing wider Oxenholme to Grasmere 

Corridor Travel Plan. Discussion with the Corridor Travel Group over inclusion of these actions within their future work is the first step.  

  
a. Develop ‘activity + travel packages’ for visitors through 

combined information on activity and non-car travel 
opportunities around and on Lake Windermere, as part of 
wider travel corridor actions. This action will build on the 
existing successful non-car opportunities – particularly 
boat-and-visit ticketing – to extend the provision of 
‘packages’ for visitors of half-day and longer opportunities.  
 
Action will be taken to further integrate information of 
existing non-car transport, parking, visitor attractions, 
public access and informal recreation options. This will 
include promotion of multiple activity options and develop 
the range of combined travel-and-visit ticketing. 
 

Note – this action links to proposal D5 in the Corridor Travel Plan, 
for a Visitor Mini Guide for travel and activity options in the travel 
corridor  

 
March 20 

 
Milestone 1 by  

March 18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
LDNPA – for 
Milestone 1 
 
Oxenholme to 
Grasmere 
Corridor 
Travel Group, 
SLDC, NT, 
visitor 
attraction 
operators, 
transport 
operators 
 
 
 
 

 
Existing partner resource for 
milestone 1 
 
Priority, staffing + external 
funding to be identified beyond 
milestone 1 via the Corridor 
Travel Group 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   ANNEX 1 to Appendix 1 

Milestone 1: engage with the Corridor Travel Group to 
incorporate and develop this action within their future 
proposed actions by March 2018  
 
Further delivery will subject to new sources of external 
funds being available.                 
 

b. Review current car and coach parking provision to enable 
visitors and residents around Lake Windermere to leave the 
car behind for half-days and longer. As part of wider travel 
corridor actions, maximise use of existing provision and 
identify opportunities for increased capacity for half-day 
and longer parking to enable ‘activity + travel packages’  
(see action a. above): 

 Review current parking provision and identify 
where there is potential to increase half-day or 
longer parking capacity 

 Encourage parking and visitor attraction operators 
to increase provision of half-day or longer parking 
and fully utilise existing/planned parking capacity. 
This will  support uptake of half-day and longer  
‘activity + travel packages’ 

 
Milestone 1: engage with the Corridor Travel Group to 
incorporate and develop this action within their future 
proposed actions by March 2018  
 
Further delivery will be through the Corridor Travel Group 
arrangements, as agreed in Milestone 1  
                

Note – this action links to proposal E2 in the Corridor Travel Plan, 
for Park and Ride provision in the travel corridor  

 
 

c. Promote and extend integrated ‘bike and boat’ provision 
around the lake:   

 Implement promotion of routes for integrated use 
of existing bike and boat provision – linked to action 
a. 

 Consider the potential  of additional bike-boat 
routes, including jetty and other infrastructure 
changes required  

 Seek funding to implement priority new routes and 
required infrastructure upgrading 

 
Milestone 1: engage with the Corridor Travel Group to 
incorporate and develop this action within their future 
proposed actions by March 2018  
 
Further delivery will be  subject to external funding and in 
consultation with the Corridor Travel Group arrangements, 
as agreed in Milestone 1   
 

Note – this action links to the aspiration in the Corridor Travel Plan 
to provide improved non-car travel options in the travel corridor, 
plus proposal E6 to increase jetty provision 

               

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

March 22 
 

Milestone 1 by 
March 18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

March 20 
 

Milestone 1 by 
March 18 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SLDC 
 
Oxenholme to 
Grasmere 
Corridor 
Travel Group, 
LDNPA, NT, 
visitor 
attraction 
operators,  
transport 
operators  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LDNPA + WLC  
 
Oxenholme to 
Grasmere 
Corridor 
Travel Group, 
NT, SLDC  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Existing partner resource for 
milestone 1 
 
Priority, staffing + external 
funding to be identified beyond 
milestone 1 in  consultation 
with the Corridor Travel Group 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Existing partner resource for 
milestone 1 
 
Priority, staffing + external 
funding to be identified beyond 
milestone 1 via the Corridor 
Travel Group 
 
 
 
 

2 Action: Improve the shore access network in the south west of the lake  

Purpose: to improve accessibility and connectivity of access, and increase sustainable use of the south-west shore of the lake 

 

Constraints: the consultation identified that there is demand for improved access on the south-east shore of the lake. However, the 

opportunities for improving the existing network there is very constrained by landownership which is mainly individual dwellings. In 

addition, developing access to improve connectivity between Fellfoot and Lakeside is an agreed priority. Therefore this action is focused on 

the south-west shore, which is owned/managed by the National Trust and a few larger estates.  

 
Lead partner: Lake District National Park Authority 

 Deliver the Southern Node Access Project through partnership 
working to improve existing provision and increase connectivity 
through new network linkages: 

Milestone 1: Engage with partners, landowners and others 
to      develop opportunities for improvements and new 
network linkages (January  
 
Milestone 2: Obtain detailed design and consents for new 
linkages between Fell Foot and Newby Bridge and Newby 

Milestone 1 by 
January 18 

 
 
Milestone 2 by 

January 19 
 
 
Milestone 3  to 

LDNPA 
 
Private 
landowners, 
National Trust, 
YMCA 
 
 
 

Securing design and land owner 
permissions, Within existing 
resources.  
 
External funding required for 
new infrastructure. 
 
Note – this action is included as 
part of proposals G3 in the 

Page 58



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   ANNEX 1 to Appendix 1 

Bridge to Claife Station along the west shore of 
Windermere.   
 
Milestone 3: Commence delivery of practical works in 
whole or by part on securing funding. 

be confirmed 
subject to 

funding 
 

Oxenholme to Grasmere 
Corridor Travel Plan, and is 
being led by LDNPA 

3 Action: Effectively manage lake swimming through better evidence, understanding needs and improving key locations 

Purpose: to proactively manage the increasing use of the lake for recreational swimming by improving awareness and safety, and by 

providing access and informal facilities for lake swimmers at a few locations. Facilities will be designed to also enable use by canoeists and 

other paddle sports users. 

 

Constraints: the need for proactive management of swimming to address safety concerns and address conflicts with other users was 

widely recognised in the consultation for this plan. However, most users of the lake for swimming do so informally and are generally not 

affiliated to a club or organisation. Understanding the increasing participation in lake swimming, the pattern of use across the lake and 

engaging swimmers in proactive management is therefore challenging. Lack of data makes assessing future trends and needs particularly 

difficult. 

This action is aimed at proactively managing the increasing trend of lake swimming in Windermere; it is beyond the scope of this plan to 

address the wider question of promoting and managing this activity across the Lake District’s lakes and tarns. This issue has been raised as 

part of the 2017 Local Plan review. 

 
Lead partner: South Lakeland District Council 

 a. Identify a set of key lake swimming locations; improve access 

and low-key provision; improve communication (including on 

blue-green algae risks) 

Milestone 1: Establish an outdoor swimming group,  collate 

evidence on current use, consider lake user conflicts and 

identify suitable improvements for 2 locations by 

September 18 

Milestone 2: implement improvements to first 2 locations, 

identify suitable improvements for remaining location(s) by 

March 19 

Milestone 3: implement improvements to remaining 

location(s) by March 20 

 

 

b. Encourage and promote use of these locations through 

communications, group lake swimming sessions and small 

events – commence April 19 

 

 

c. Provide advice and events to promote safe lake swimming 

and boating by both local and visitors, extending delivery of 

the successful SwimSafe and BoatSafe projects. 

March 20 

 

Milestone 1 
by September  

18 
Milestone 2 
by March 19 

Milestone 3  
by March 20 

 

 

March 22 

 

 

 

March 22 

SLDC + LDNPA 

EA, outdoor 

swimming 

providers, 

GLL/Swimsafe, 

canoeing + 

boat reps 

(rowing, 

sailing and 

powered 

craft), 

commercial 

operators 

 

SLDC + LDNPA  

Outdoor 

swimming 

group 

 

SLDC –

Wardens +  

GLL (SLDC 

Leisure 

Partner) 

LDNPA –

Rangers 

Delivery via the existing Ranger 

+ Warden resources, as part of 

their ‘business-as-usual’ 

activities 

 

 

 

 

 

Delivery via the existing Ranger 

+ Warden resources, as part of 

their ‘business-as-usual’ 

activities 

 

Ranger + Warden resources in 

place as part of ‘business-as-

usual’ activities 

SwimSafe resources in place for 

3 years 

4 Action: Enhance the boat user experience through improved infrastructure and information at existing locations 

Purpose: to improve the ‘offer’ for existing and new boat users of both powered and non-powered craft at existing locations and 

encourage sustainable use. This will include public and privately operated sites, including those which are part of the Windermere 

Waterfront project (see map 2) 

 

Constraints: the pace of delivery of the actions below, and the detail of the outcomes, is dependent upon the progress with delivery of 

existing projects by a range of public, voluntary and private organisations. The Lead partners (SLDC and LDNPA) will develop dialogue on 

delivery of these actions via the existing Windermere Waterfront initiative, which is providing strategic co-ordination across many of these 

projects.  

 

The emerging Local Plan will  provide a practical framework to enable development proposals to deliver this action. It will include the 

‘Windermere Waterfront Showcase Area’ to help guide and encourage developments that will meet lake users needs. 

 

The provision of boat fuelling facilities and improved communication (4G, Broadband and Wi-fi) are specific issues identified by boat user 

groups. Improving the  provision of these at existing and new jetties will be encouraged through iterative dialogue by the Lead partners 

with private and voluntary operators. However, again the delivery of these services is dependent upon proposals coming forward from 

jetty operators and developers. In particular, provision of new fuelling facilities will require a private developer to take it forward; 

commercial viability will be important in any decision they make.  

 

Page 59



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   ANNEX 1 to Appendix 1 

Lead partner: South Lakeland District Council + Lake District National Park Authority 

 a. Enable delivery of improved infrastructure for boat users 

around the lake by encouraging jetty operators around the 

lake, including private operators and new development 

projects, to incorporate increased public provision as part 

of upgrading existing jetties and development of new ones 

including: 

 jetty access provision for leisure boat users, including 

where appropriate, shared access with commercial 

users 

 jetty facilities – access to water, sewage pump-outs, etc 

 communication – 4G, Broadband and Wi-fi 

 boat fuelling facilities 

 

This will include maximising opportunities from recent, 

current and proposed investments in jetties, focused 

on: 

- South lake – Fell Foot; YMCA  

- Bowness Bay 

- Waterhead 

- Beech Hill 

 

Milestone 1: engage with the Windermere Waterfront 
programme to incorporate and develop this action within 
their future proposed actions  - by March 2018  
 
Further delivery will be through the Corridor Travel Group 

arrangements, see Breakthrough Action 1     

 
Partnership delivery link: Action 4a can be best achieved as part of 
implementation of the existing Windermere Waterfront 
programme.  
 
The first step is discussion with the Windermere Waterfront 
programme, to consider how their programme delivers the action 
here and if there are additional elements that can be incorporated 
within their future delivery. 

 

b. Upgrading of dinghy storage on west shore to improve 

security and reduce flood damage risk  

 

c. Develop opportunities for boat users to be able to ‘park’ 

and access key locations around the lake: 

 Identify up to four locations for improved short-

term boat ‘parking’ (e.g. moorings; small landing 

jetties) to enable access by boat users to specific 

locations (e.g. near Claife Viewpoint; off Wray 

Castle) 

 Identify resources/external funding to implement  

 Install moorings and small landing jetties for 

tenders and promote use 

 

Milestone 1: identify locations, identify suitable 

improvements for first 2 locations, by March 18 

 

Milestone 2: implement improvements to first 2 locations, 

identify suitable improvements for remaining location(s), by 

March 19 

 

Milestone 3: implement improvements to remaining 

location(s), by March 20 

 

d. Increase provision of boat-washing facilities to prevent and 

minimise the risk of invasive non-native species from boats 

operated in other waters 

 

This action links to Action 6b, bullet 4 below 

 

 

March 22 
 

Milestone 1 
by March 18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TBC  

 
 
 

March 20 
 

Milestone 1 
by March 18 

 
Milestone 2 
by March 19 

 
Milestone 3 
by March 20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

March 22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SLDC + LDNPA 
 
Windermere 
Waterfront 
programme, 
NT, WLC, 
YMCA, private 
landowners 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NT 
 
 
 
SLDC – Lake 
Wardens 
 
NT and other 
landowners at 
chosen 
locations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SLDC 
 
LDNPA via 
planning 
system, 
private boat 
launch 
operators 

Existing partner resource for 
milestone 1 
 
Priority, staffing + funding to be 
identified beyond milestone 1 
via the Corridor Travel Group 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Resources to be identified; not 
yet secured 
 
 
Within existing resources as 
part of their ‘business-as-usual’ 
activities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Achieve through development 
planning process for new and 
redeveloped boat launching 
facilities 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   ANNEX 1 to Appendix 1 

 

e. Improve and upgrade information for boat users around the 

lake, to provide up to date information on access and 

temporary berth/mooring opportunities and other 

provision and facilities 

 

Opportunities to improve provision of information will be 

identified annually by the Lake Wardens and Rangers as 

part of their work programming. 

 

 
Ongoing 

 
SLDC Lake 
Wardens and 
LDNPA Lake 
Rangers 

 
Within existing resources as 
part of their ‘business-as-usual’ 
activities 

5 Action: Improve the resilience of public infrastructure and access around the lake to extremes of lake level fluctuations  
 
Purpose: to reduce the impacts of lake level extremes – from both flooding and drought - on public infrastructure and access provision, 
minimising the effects on local communities, economy and the environment    
 
Constraints: the need to increase the resilience of public access and boat user facilities around the lake to flood and low water levels is 
widely supported. Securing this key infrastructure is essential for the long-term enjoyment of the lake and for the businesses that support 
and service the users. The challenge is the scale of the task and the resources required to achieve significant improvement, This will require 
the numerous and varied providers – public, voluntary and private organisations and companies – to come together and develop a 
prioritised and co-ordinated programme that can be used to seek funding.  
 
Lead partner: To be confirmed in discussion with the Catchment Management Group 

 a. Develop and deliver a public infrastructure and access 
water levels resilience programme: 

 Review the resilience of public infrastructure 
around the lake, including jetties and public access. 
Develop a programme of prioritised resilience 
improvements for public infrastructure around the 
lake. 
 

 Assess the potential and if viable secure significant 
external funding to deliver the public infrastructure 
and access resilience programme. This will require a 
partnership proposal working across public, 
voluntary and private operators and providers. 
Opportunities to improve public access and boat 
user provision n(see BA 4 above) should be 
incorporated in to these proposals.  

 Deliver a programme of water levels resilience 
improvement for public infrastructure and access, 
securing delivery via the planning process, inclusion 
in projects around the lake and via external funding  
- commencing April 19 
 

Milestone 1: undertake a review and identify prioritised 
water levels resilience actions for public infrastructure and 
access around the lake. This will be undertaken by a 
partnership of public, voluntary and private operators and 
providers 
 
Milestone 2: Assess the potential and if viable secure 
significant external funding to deliver the public 
infrastructure and access resilience programme. 

 
b. Improve commercial resilience to flooding through 

partnership influencing of Central Government to bring 
forward new schemes with the commercial insurance 
market to ensure that commercial property around the lake 
is able to get sustainable and affordable protection.  

 
March 22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
March 19 
 
 
 
 
 
March 20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To be 
confirmed in 
discussion 
with the 
Catchment 
Management 
Group 
SLDC, Lake 
Levels Group, 
UU, LDNPA, 
NT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SLDC  
Lake District 
Business Task 
Force 
 
Cumbria Flood 
Partnership 
 
 

 
Resources to be identified; not 
yet secured 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Partnership delivery links: this 
action can be best achieved 
through joint working with the 
Cumbria Flood Partnership 
 
The risks and impacts on the 
commercial sector around Lake 
Windermere provides an 
excellent example for this wider 
Cumbria issue 

6 Action: Improve the key biodiversity/Natural Capital assets of the lake and it shore, and the public benefits this provides, by identifying 
and implementing practical action 
 
Purpose: to halt declines of all habitats and species in and around the lake; develop a pipeline of feasible and deliverable projects targeted 
on improving key habitats and species;  and identify, secure and improve the public benefits this natural capital provides  
 
Constraints: the need for positive action for biodiversity, particularly shoreline habitat restoration and securing fish populations, around 
Windermere have to compete for resources with priorities for similar actions around the Lake District. Windermere has a number of recent 
and ongoing biodiversity projects, however these are not closely co-ordinated or connected. Making significant progress over the next few 
years will require a more co-ordinated partnership approach to delivering a set of priorities for action across the lake. 
 
Lead partner: South Cumbria Rivers Trust  

  
a. Develop and implement a ‘light touch’ 3-year Biodiversity 

Improvement Plan for the lake and its shores, identifying 

 
Dec 20 

 

 
SCRT 
 

 
SCRT to lead and co-ordinate 
subject to funding 

Page 61



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   ANNEX 1 to Appendix 1 

priority habitats, species and risks  and actions to address 
and improve them  

 
Milestone 1: develop the 3-year Biodiversity Improvement 
Plan with partners and stakeholders, by Dec 17 

 
Milestone 2: secure resources to implement the priority 
actions in the Biodiversity Improvement Plan, by June 18 

 
 

b. Manage and reduce the risk and impact of Invasive Non-
Native Species (INNS) on the biodiversity of the lake and its 
shores, engaging and communicating with lake users: 

 Prevent further INNS introductions to the lake 
through a targeted INNS pathways management 
project  

 Develop a mapped baseline of plant INNS around 
the lake and its shores  

 Undertake a sustained control programme of 
existing plant INNS  

 Develop and promote biosecurity prevention via a 
pathways project – e.g. via a boat-washing scheme 
for boats that have been operated in other waters 
 

 
c. Consider the value of a  Biodiversity and Natural Capital 

Improvement Plan for Lake Windermere for 2021-25 
 
* A decision on whether to progress this action will be taken 
by March 19, in light of the Cumbria Pioneer project 
approach and emerging findings on applying natural 
capital, and in light of resources 
 
Milestone 1: determine whether to proceed with the action 
in light of the Pioneer Project outcomes and resources 
 
Milestone 2: undertake an assessment of Lake 
Windermere’s natural capital, focusing on the cultural, 
health and well-being public benefits that flow from this. 
Identify potential natural capital management interventions 
that could secure and improve the flow of public benefits.  

 
Milestone 3: building on the 3-year Biodiversity 
Improvement Plan (action a. above) and the natural capital 
assessment (action b. above) 

Milestone 1 by 
Dec 17 

 
Milestone 2 by 

June 18 
 
 
 
 
 

March 22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

March 20* 
 

Milestone 1 by 
March 19 

 
Milestone 2 by 

March 20 
 

Milestone 3 by 
December 20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LDNPA, NT, 
EA, FBA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SCRT 
 
EA, LDNPA, 
SLDC, NT, FBA, 
SLDC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LDNPA + SLDC 
For Milestone 
1 
 
 
EA, NE, UoC, 
SCRT, FBA, NT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

d.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Initial resources secured, 
funding across the full period to 
be secured 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Existing partner resource for 
milestone 1 
 
By March 19* - Lead partner(s), 
staffing + funding to be 
identified beyond milestone 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7 Develop a monitoring and reporting framework for delivery of the Action Plan, including an intelligence and research base that also 
enables existing and emerging risks and issues to be identified, understood and assessed. 
 
Purpose: To enable partners and stakeholders to pool knowledge and work together to effectively monitor progress with addressing 
current issues and proactively assess emerging risks for the lake and its shores.  
 
To ensure joined-up monitoring of progress with delivery of the Action Plan and individual Breakthrough Actions. To enable delivery 
barriers to be identified and addressed and the Action Plan programme to be adjusted to meet changing needs and circumstances.  
 
Constraints: monitoring of delivery of the Breakthrough Actions is essential to be able to track progress and address barriers to achieving 
this Action Plan. However, there is a risk that resources that could be invested in to delivering the actions is taken up on reporting. 
Therefore a simple common reporting framework for the actions will be key. Ensuring that this records barriers to delivery and potential 
solutions, and flags up any changes to the issues and actions, can help keep the plan live and relevant over the its 6-year life. 
 
Annual reporting should not be seen as the only tool to monitor progress with the Action Plan. Updates in-year on progress and resolving 
delivery barriers as they arise will be an important part of the revised governance arrangements, with the Action Plan delivery group 
taking a lead role. 
 
Lead partner: Action Plan delivery group 

 a. Jointly develop a simple monitoring and reporting 
framework for assessing progress with delivery of the 
Breakthrough Actions. Identify the data which will be used 
across the plan period to assess both progress and key 
outcomes. Identify research needs to support delivery of 
the Action Plan 
 

b. Undertake annual reporting on delivery of the Action Plan 
 
 
 

c. Monitor in-year progress with the Action Plan through 
informal updates to the Action Plan Delivery Group 

March 18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Annually from 
April 18 
 
 
Ongoing, once 
Action Plan 

Action Plan 
delivery 
group* 
                  
 
 
 
Action Plan 
delivery 
group* 
 
Action Plan 
delivery 

 

Page 62



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   ANNEX 1 to Appendix 1 

 
 

delivery group 
is established 

group* 

*see Action Plan section XXTOADXX for details of the governance structure for achieving the Plan and the individual Breakthrough Actions  

 

 

 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



                                                                                                                                                                                                         APPENDIX  2  

Consultation feedback – public response and proposed revisions     August 2017 

1. SUMMARY - KEY ISSUES AND REVISIONS TO PLAN 

Topic or Action 
 

Consultation response key issues Proposed response and/or revision to Action Plan 

Overall comments on 
the Plan 

 Strong concern that the focused 
approach of the Action Plan does 
not include key issues – particularly 
water quality and lake levels - and 
therefore does not add up to a 
strategic plan for the lake 

 Therefore the plan may fail to join-
up management for these, 
particularly action undertaken by 
other partnerships (e.g. catchment 
management actions delivered 
through the Catchment Partnership) 

 Concern that departing from the 
holistic approach of the previous 
strategy means lake users and 
communities will be less able to 
input and assess progress 

 However, there is support for the 
focused approach and need for the 
plan to deliver tangible outcomes on 
the ground 

 Lack of clarity on how the 
Breakthrough Actions will be 
delivered and the delivery managed 

 Lack of monitoring oversight across 
all management  affecting the lake, 
and a reduced ability to hold 
delivery organisations/partnerships 
to account 

The plan needs to better demonstrate that the focused approach can still ensure 
there is effective join-up across management of and affecting the lake. Building 
effective linkages between the various partnerships will be critical to success. 
 
REVISION 1 – Revise to better explain the evolving structure and complexity of 
management. List key partnerships. 2011 Strategy was overly complicated as it 
dealt with all issues – but the scale of actions and number of players has 
increased. So change needed. 
 
REVISION 2 – Revise to set out the delivery framework of this plan and  better 
show links to other partnerships and their actions affecting the lake 

 Be overt that this is a different  approach; a strategic approach focused on 
the gaps in addressing key issues rather than existing or planned activity 

 outline the new delivery framework – including show how each 
Breakthrough Action has a lead organisation(s) and possibly  a sub-group 
to take it forward 

 Include representatives for catchment management and water levels 
within the revised governance of the plan 

 include a schematic diagram to show the linkages between issues and 
existing partnerships addressing them This schematic could also identify 
the issues not being addressed and which lead to the Breakthrough 
Actions in the Action Plan 

 Add new actions –  
o Establish the new delivery framework – including governance of 

delivery 
o to agree with the key partnerships for the lake how they will link 

with the Action Plan over its 5 year period of delivery 
FOLLOW UP ACTION 1 – engage key delivery partnerships to ensure strong 
linkages with the Action Plan. Initial meeting in October 17 with SLDC and LDNPA 
officers to discuss governance and delivery linkages. Continuing involvement with 
the Delivery Group to be agreed at the meeting. 

Balancing different 
interests 

 Concerns that the plan was very 
SLDC and LDNPA centric, and did 

The plan was developed through a purposeful effort to engage user groups, 
community reps and key management organisations; its content and focus very 

P
age 65



not include the views of local 
communities, lake users and other 
delivery organisations. 

 The consultation responses were 
not spread across all user groups 
and community representatives. In 
particular, there were no individual 
responses from lake users beyond 
motor boaters. 

 Very differing views on the scope for 
further use of the lake, particularly 
for powered craft, and the impacts 
that could have on other users, the 
local community and economy (+ 
and -). This polarised situation 
makes reaching a consensus very 
difficult. 
 

much reflects the feedback from these stakeholders. However, this was not 
apparent within the plan and led to concerns over its legitimacy. 
 
REVISION 3 – Additional section outlining the engagement and consultation 
process for the plan, including key steps in the process 
 
Outline how stakeholder engagement and consultation that shaped  the plan – 
and the involvement of elected representatives to ensure community views are 
heard 
 
Local communities have been engaged in the process: 

 via their representatives – District and Parish Councillors. Members of the 
LDNPA Authority have been involved. 

 Directly – an open consultation has been undertaken 
 
REVISION 4  – include the consideration of the needs of canoeists and rowers 
where facilities for swimmers are to be addressed within Breakthrough Action 3 

BA 1 - Improve the 
non-car dependent 
visitor offer 

 Broaden the scope to include the 
use and capacity of the A592 and 
highways management of the 
Newby Bridge to Lakeside road 

 Recognition needed that there are 
already non-car packages available 
for visitors – which can be built on 

 New steamer routes need to be 
commercially viable, or have public 
funding support, to be viable 

Part of REVISION 2 – Be clear on the geographic scope of the Plan – the lake 
and its immediate environs. Some comments on roads and transport are beyond 
that scope. 
Show links to other strategies + partnerships – some of the issues raised are 
covered in the Lake District Partnership Plan, which includes policies and actions 
for sustainable transport, including public transport provision. Also, the 
Oxenholme to Ambleside Corridor Travel Group is addressing the issues, with the 
exception of boat storage. 
 
REVISION 5 – revise the text of Breakthrough Action 1 to include the needs of 
lake users, including local residents, for parking to enable use of the lake and its 
associated access networks. 
 
REVISION 6 – refer to the existing non-car offer and the benefits of building on 
that as a successful model. Plus the need for new services to be commercially 
viable. 

BA 3 – Positively 
manage lake 
swimming 

 Strong concern that lake swimming 
is to be promoted and that 
Windermere will become the key 
location within the National Park 

 Concern that this may lead to further 
restrictions on powered boat use 

 Need to involve boater users as well 

REVISION 7 – review BA3 actions so that the intention of the actions are clear 

 The focus on swimming is in response to many organisations and 
community representatives identifying the increase in non-organised 
swimming as a significant issue during the early development of the Plan.  

 The key issue is the safety of swimmers in a lake with multiple uses.   

 Promotion of key locations is to manage existing use rather than actively 
promote and increase use across the lake.  

P
age 66



as swimmers in safety campaigns 
 A strategic review of lake swimming 

and management should be part of 
the Local Plan review 

 Include the consideration of the needs of canoeists and rowers at the 
locations where facilities for swimmers are to be addressed  

 The lack of data on lake swimming is recognised and acknowledged in the 
Plan. The trend of increasing use has been identified by the Warden and 
Ranger services and other anecdotal evidence, including from WLUF and 
commercial operators. 

 Involve boat and swimming reps in the delivery of this action 
LOCAL PLAN review – could make a strategic review of where swimming is 
managed and promoted in the  Local Plan  

BA 4 – Enhance the 
boat user 
experience 

 Lack of topic lead is a strong 
concern 

 No reference to the lack of fuelling 
facilities is a major omission 
 

REVISION 8 – revise the text of BA4 to include: 
 

 topic lead for this action – propose that this should be SLDC + LDNPA, 
but not NT as proposed by WLUF. Sharing the lead between 3 
organisations could lead to confusion + delay 

 regular updating/upgrading of communication and information for boat and 
other lake users on facilities around the lake – e.g. annual revision of boat 
user guide; increased use of Lake Wardens Facebook page as information 
tool 

 reference to fuel facilities and other issues for boat users, and the 
combined role of private, voluntary and public organisations in addressing 
them. The role of the public authorities is to enable provision The 
commercial viability of provision of some services, such as fuel, will be key 
to determining if they are addressed.  

BA 5 – Improve the 
resilience of public 
infrastructure and 
access 

 Support for this action 
 But it should also recognise that 

private providers also provide public 
provision which also needs to be 
made resilient 

 This action may require significant 
funding 

REVISION 9 – additional action – to explore a combined public, voluntary and 
private bid for significant funding to upgrade the resilience of infrastructure used 
by lake users (locals + visitors) to secure effective access and enjoyment on and 
around the lake. 

BA 7 – Develop a 
monitoring and 
reporting framework 
for delivery of the 
Action Plan 

 The need for effective monitoring 
and progress reporting is supported 

 Needs to be inclusive and cover the 
full range of management around 
the lake 

 Need for effective governance is 
supported – various formats 
proposed, including a Lake Board 
with funding of a programme 
manager  

REVISION 10 – revise the text of BA7 to:  

 Emphasise that monitoring of the delivery of this plan is important and will 
be integral to its effective delivery.  

 The annual reporting pattern is not the sole way of tracking progress. In 
addition to the annual reporting there will be updates on progress with 
specific actions as requested by the new delivery group  

 Develop a standard reporting template to include progress with targets, 
delivery risks and new issues 

 Engage wider lake users, local community, researchers and other 
stakeholders in reporting back on progress and issues – possibly via an 
annual topic-focused conference 

P
age 67



Water Quality 
 

 Strong concern this is not covered 
by the plan 

 Lack of connection between delivery 
of this plan and action for water 
quality 

FOLLOW UP ACTION 2 – the issues raised in this consultation regarding water 
quality will be shared with the lead organisations for these issues. The linkage 
between their work on the issues and this Plan will be clarified (see Revision 2 
above). 
 
GOVERNANCE  1– invite the Catchment Partnership to sit on the Action Plan 
Delivery Group, to ensure effective delivery linkages 

Water levels   Concern that this is not covered by 
this plan 

 Lack of connection between delivery 
of this plan and management 
affecting water levels 

FOLLOW UP ACTION 3 – the issues raised in this consultation regarding water 
levels will be shared with the lead organisations for these issues. The linkage 
between their work on the issues and this Plan will be clarified (see Revision 2 
above). 
 
GOVERNANCE 2 – including a water levels representative on the Action Plan 
Delivery Group to help ensure effective delivery linkages will be considered 

Major Development 
and the Local Plan 

 Concern that the Local Plan is not 
local enough to address lake issues 

 Will the Local Plan reflect the needs 
of the lake and the actions in this 
plan? 

REVISION 11 – strengthen links to the Local Plan by: 

 Revising to emphasise the role of the Local Plan and the current review of 
that. The Local Plan provides the strategic framework for development 
across the Lake District, placing Windermere in the wider context. 

 Engage LDNP Local Plan team to ensure the Action Plan is reflected in 
the Local Plan. 

Other gaps or 
omissions 

 Concerns that commitment to 
continuation of the Lake Warden 
and Ranger services is not explicitly 
included in the Plan. This stems 
from positive feedback about their 
presence and activities. 

 Understanding the importance of 
tranquillity as part of people’s 
enjoyment of the lake was identified 
in the review as important but this is 
not reflected in the Action Plan.  

 

REVISION 12 – include commitment to continue with the Lake Warden and 
Ranger services, which are part of business-as-usual activity for LDNPA and 
SLDC  
 
 
 
REVISION 13 – Include an additional reference in Breakthrough Action 7 to 
identify research needs to support the delivery of the Plan.  

 

P
age 68



                                                                                                                                      APPENDIX 3 

 South Lakeland District Council 

Health, Social, Economic & Environmental Impact Guidance & Proforma 
 

Project, policy or programme:                    Windermere Lake Action Plan 2017-22 

Health Impacts Potential Impacts 

Positive No 
impact 

Negative Not 
sure 

Comments Recommendations 

Please tick the appropriate box   

Environmental Conditions 
Air quality 

 

    Breakthrough Action 
includes promotion of 
public transport, 
active travel and 
reduction of private 
car use 

 

Water quality and 
pollution 

 
 

   Action Plan makes 
clear reference to 
work to improve lake 
water quality 

 

Built environment 

 

 

 

    

Natural environment 
and biodiversity 

 
 

   Breakthrough Action 
included, to halt 
decline of habitats 
and species around 
the lake 

 

Energy 
consumption/efficiency 

 

 

 

    

Noise 

 

 

 

    

Transport 

  

   See comment on Air 
Quality above 

 

Recycling 

 

 

 

    

Food production 

 

 

 

    

Social and Economic Factors 
Employment 

  

   The Action Plan 
recognises the 
economic drive 
provided by the Lake 
and aims to provide 
the environment to 
promote sustainable 
economic growth, 
including the future 
resilience of 
infrastructure which 
supports economic 
activity  

 

Page 69



                                                                                                                                      APPENDIX 3 

Project, policy or programme:                    Windermere Lake Action Plan 2017-22 

Health Impacts Potential Impacts 

Positive No 
impact 

Negative Not 
sure 

Comments Recommendations 

Please tick the appropriate box   
Income 

 

 

 

  Though recorded as 
No impact, there 
could be secondary 
benefits for income 
through sustainable 
economic growth and 
if Plan actions which 
promote health and 
well-being are linked 
with other 
programmes and 
activities in the area 
which can improve 
skills, training and 
economic activity 

 

Poverty 

 

 

 

   

Education, skills and 
training 

 

 

 

   

Housing 

 

 

 

    

Crime 

 

 

 

    

Work environment 

 

 

 

    

Factors that impact a person’s ability to improve their own health and wellbeing 
Nutrition and diet 

 

 

 

    

Physical activity 

  

   Actions included 
which help promote 
physical activity and 
active lifestyles 

 

Alcohol 

 

 

 

    

Drugs 

 

 

 

    

Risk taking behaviour 

 

 

 

    

Smoking 

 

 

 

    

Loneliness and 
isolation 

 

 

 

    

Access to services, spaces or social opportunities that impact health 
Communication 
methods 

 

 

 

    

Active travel 

  

   The Action Plan will 
enable delivery of 
projects which 
promote access to 
leisure, open spaces, 

 

Access to leisure 

  

    

Page 70



                                                                                                                                      APPENDIX 3 

Project, policy or programme:                    Windermere Lake Action Plan 2017-22 

Health Impacts Potential Impacts 

Positive No 
impact 

Negative Not 
sure 

Comments Recommendations 

Please tick the appropriate box   
Access to culture 

  

   the lake and including 
opportunities by 
active travel.  

 

Access to green 
spaces 

 
 

    

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 72



Lake Windermere Action Plan 2017-22 

                                                                                                                   Appendix 4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
EIA 
Title:  

 
1.0 The public sector equality duty (2011) covers the following eight protected 

characteristics: 
 

Age, disability, ethnicity, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity.  
The duty also covers marriage and civil partnership, but only relating to the 
elimination of unlawful discrimination (see below, 2.0). 
 

1.1  SLDC includes “rurality” and “socio-economic disadvantage” as 
additional categories in its equality impact assessments. Although socio-
economic status and rurality are not recognised protected characteristics 
under the Equality Act, people on low incomes or in rural isolation are highly 
likely to be affected by services that are intended to support vulnerable 
people. 

 
2.0 The General Equality Duty.  

SLDC, in the exercise of its functions, should:  
a. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 

other conduct prohibited by the Act.  
b.  Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a  

protected characteristic and those who do not.  
c.  Foster good relations between people who share  

a protected characteristic and those who  
do not.  
 

Page 73



Step 1 

Summarise the subject and expected outcomes of this EIA. 

The Lake District National Park Authority and South Lakeland District Council have 
reviewed the previous Windermere Management Strategy and developed a 
Windermere – Lake Action Plan 2017-22, to set out the key new actions to be 
undertaken to secure and improve the environment of Windermere and the land 
immediately around its shores, and improve the community and economic benefits 
it provides. The plan covers the next six years, building on the achievements from 
the previous two five year strategies. 

Who are your main stakeholders and list any engagement undertaken 
(include surveys, feedback forms, complaints, statistics etc.). 

The main stakeholders to this plan are: 

 Residents and visitors who currently use the Lake and its shore for 
recreation 

 Residents and visitors who may in the future use the Lake and its shore for 
recreation 

 Businesses which deliver and derive economic benefit from operating on 
and around the Lake, including ownership of adjacent land. 

 Communities around the Lake, and their elected representatives, at Parish, 
District and County level 

 Organisations and agencies which have purposes and roles in managing 
and or regulating use of the environment, natural resources, habitats and 
biodiversity. 

 
The Action Plan has been developed following discussion with representative key 
stakeholders, to understand their view on the Lake, its management and what 
needs to happen through future management. Parish Council’s, Councillors, 
stakeholders and business representatives have been directly invited to comment 
on the draft Plan. 
  
In total, 67 people and organisations were invited to comment, with 24 responses 
being received from Parish Councils, the Windermere Lake User Forum, agencies, 
businesses and some individual powered craft users. There were a mix of positive 
and critical comments. Concern had been raised regarding the scope of the plan, 
though recognising that it had been prepared on a different basis to focus on the 
gaps in activity / responsibilities of other organisations with regard to the Lake’s 
management.  
 
The consultation responses were summarised and considered by the Windermere 
Management Strategy Working Group at their meeting in July 2017. As a result, 
revisions and additions have been made to the draft plan. Appendix 2 to the 
covering Report has a copy of the summary and revisions. 

 
 
 

Page 74



Step 2 

Equality Action Plan 
 

In providing this service, what are the impacts 
for the following people? 

1. Age (young and old) 
2. Black and Minority Ethnic  
3. Disabled  
4. Faith/Belief  
5. Sexual Orientation 
6. Gender 
7. Gender reassignment 
8. Pregnancy and maternity 
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership  
10. Socio-economic disadvantage 

(including rural deprivation, ‘rurality’) 
 
(See glossary below for definitions) 
 

Positive 
impacts 

Negative 
impacts 

Mitigating actions (to 
avoid negative impact): 
 

Lead Officer 
& 
When 

Complete 
Y/N 

The Actions promoted by the Plan will be 
managed so as to address any equality impacts 
that may subsequently be at risk.   
 
The equalities groups where there is most risk of 
equalities impacts are 3. Disabled and 10. Socio 
Economic disadvantage - rurality. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
There is opportunity 
to enhance 
services, and 
transport within 
rural communities 
surrounding the 
Lake. 
 
The Health, Social, 
Economic and 
Environmental 
Impact identifies 

 
 
 
 
 
There is a risk of 
infrastructure 
provision not 
accommodating 
accessibility 
requirements. 

For example, the design and 
provision of new infrastructure, 
provision of information and 
encouragement of use of public 
transport will ensure that access 
needs are addressed and 
accommodated where 
practicable, recognising the 
natural environment in which 
they may be provided. 
 
Delivery partners have detailed 
experience of providing 
accessible facilities and each 
operate within their own 
Equalities Schemes. 

David Sykes 
 
From Plan 
adoption and 
commencement 
 
October 2017 

N 

P
age 75



In providing this service, what are the impacts 
for the following people? 

1. Age (young and old) 
2. Black and Minority Ethnic  
3. Disabled  
4. Faith/Belief  
5. Sexual Orientation 
6. Gender 
7. Gender reassignment 
8. Pregnancy and maternity 
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership  
10. Socio-economic disadvantage 

(including rural deprivation, ‘rurality’) 
 
(See glossary below for definitions) 
 

Positive 
impacts 

Negative 
impacts 

Mitigating actions (to 
avoid negative impact): 
 

Lead Officer 
& 
When 

Complete 
Y/N 

opportunities which 
may improve 
income and 
wellbeing   

P
age 76



Step 3 
 

Examples of good equality practice you have put in place (For example, all venues used 
are accessible for people with mobility, hearing and sight impairments) 

Implementation and governance arrangements for the Plan will include requirements to 
consider, review and address Equalities Impacts in accordance with the SLDC and 
LDNPA’s Equalities Schemes. 

 
The council has a list of equality contacts who can be contacted for consultation or to ask advice. 
The list is on the intranet under Equality and Diversity. If you need any support when completing 
this Equality Impact Analysis, please contact the Partnerships and Funding Officer.  

 

Date: 22/08/17 

EIA Author(s): David Sykes 

Assistant Director: Simon Rowley 

Document version number: 1 

Date for Review: October 2018 

EIA forwarded to Policy Officer Y 

 
 

Glossary 
Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being within an age group (for example, 18-30 
year-olds).  
 
Civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners must be treated the same as married couples 
on a range of legal matters.  
 
Disability: A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse 
effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability, mental health or learning 
disability. 
 
Gender reassignment: A person has the protected characteristic of gender reassignment if the person is proposing to undergo, is 
undergoing or has undergone a process (or part of a process) for the purpose of reassigning the person's sex by changing 
physiological or other attributes of sex. 
 
Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In the non-work context, protection 
against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding.  
 
Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes, 
Asian, Black and White minority ethnic groups inc. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers.  
 
Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion. “Belief” includes religious and 
philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example, Atheism). The category includes Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, 
Buddhism, and non religious beliefs such as Humanism. 
 
Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, the opposite sex or to both sexes.  
 
Socio-economic disadvantage: This includes people on low incomes, as well as issues around rural and urban deprivation, such 
as access to services and transport. Rurality should be specifically considered as South Lakeland is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this 
means we have at least 80 percent of our population in rural settlements and larger market towns. 

 

 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



1 
 

South Lakeland District Council 

Lake Administration Committee 

6 October 2017 

Lake Windermere Fees and Charges 2018/19 

PORTFOLIO: Not Applicable 

REPORT FROM: David Sykes – Director People and Places 

REPORT AUTHOR: Jim Maguire – Community and Leisure Manager 

WARDS: All 

FORWARD PLAN: Not Applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 To supply members with proposals for Fees and Charges relating to 
Windermere Lake and the Lake Wardens from 1st April 2018 to 31st March 
2019. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that Lake Administration Committee:- 

(1) Approve the Fees and Charges as detailed in Appendix 1  

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 The Committee has the responsibility to set the annual Fees and Charges. 
When considering the Fees and Charges, the Committee need to take 
account of service demand, equity and value for money and the budget 
strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) requirements of the District 
Council.   The Committee is also required to ensure that the requirements of 
the Corporate Charging Policy have been followed. (Appendix 2) 

3.2  The Policy requires that consideration is given to; 

1. Why are we providing this service? 

2. Who benefits from the service – individuals or the community? 

3. Do we subsidise this service from council tax? 

4. What are we achieving by subsidising it? 

5. How much do residents and businesses value the service? 

6. How willing and able are they to pay for it? 

7. What effect does charging have on the supply and demand for a service? 

8. How can charging affect behaviour and assist service objectives? 

 

Page 79

Item No.8



2 
 

3.3 The Council is the owner of the bed of the Lake and is required to ensure best 
consideration for its assets.  The services provided allow for large numbers of 
users to enjoy Windermere and its environments in a safe and sustainable 
manner whilst providing revenue to support Council Policies and schemes 
throughout the District.  The service is not subsidised by the Council Tax 
payer and is fully self-financing.  Prior to proposing fees and charges the Lake 
Wardens and service managers consider options for each specific charge and 
the Appendix 1 attached details the result of these considerations.  Further 
information is contained within the paragraphs referring to the fee areas. 

3.4 The fees cover four distinct areas: 

 Permanent and holiday moorings; 

Yearly renewed encroachments (The commercial term leases are outside the 
scope of the Fees and Charges); 

 Ancillary Services (Including slipway, training, dinghy and winter storage); 

Marina Berths. 

3.5 Permanent Moorings 

Members will recall that over recent years the total number of moorings let 
has reduced slightly as has income and this situation continues in 2017.  The 
recent Windermere Aquatic Marina extension in Bowness has seen over 20 
moorings become lost to the Market and in 2018 if the proposed National 
Trust Fell Foot jetty growth occurs a similar number could be lost there also.  
Full details of the implications of Fell Foot are not known by Officers and 
detailed plans have yet to be supplied by the National Trust.  The removal of 
these 20 moorings and the extension of other Marinas on the Lake has 
resulted in a budget pressure in the order of £36,000.  The negotiated 
Commercial leases in place for these extended marinas will mitigate the loss 
as those leases terms move forward. 

3.6 Members approved that mooring fees would not rise in 2017 in recognition of 
the extensive works that had been carried out at Ferry Nab and the continued 
patience of the clients whilst these works were completed.  Fees in 2018/19 
are proposed to rise by 4%.     

3.7 Encroachments 

Lake Encroachments that are renewed on a yearly basis have seen above 
inflation increases over recent years due to a large discrepancy between the 
Commercial Term lease rents that are negotiated and the fees set by the 
Committee.  The fees for 2018 onwards have been proposed detailing a 3% 
increase which is in line with current inflation.   This is 1% more than the 
requirement of the Medium term Financial Plan (MTFP) however it is in line 
with the rent for commercially negotiated leases, in most cases. 

3.8 Ancillary services 

These services are provided in support of the permanent moorings and to 
encourage other casual use of the Lake.  Primarily they include items such as 
slipway usage, dinghy and trailer storage and the winter storage provision.  
Fee options for these services is controlled by the market and whilst 

Page 80



3 
 

consideration of the MTFP requirements takes place the main factor is usage 
(strength of the market) and user perception of value for money. 

3.9 The very vast majority of these fees have only had minor changes over recent 
years.  Members will note that some fees have increased by relatively high 
percentage points however as the increases relates to small amounts of 
money in cash terms these are not considered material.  The Lake Wardens 
and the Principal Lake and Parking Services Officer have considered these 
fees in depth and have proposed changes as detailed in Appendix 1. 

3.10 Marina Berths 

The Marina was completed at Ferry Nab in April 2015 and has proved very 
popular with 100% of sites let at all times.  There is a waiting list of 21 (correct 
at 09/09/2017) clients wishing to berth in 2018.   It is proposed to increase the 
berthing fees in 2018/19 by 4% this increase whilst above the required MTFP 
requirement results in fees that are more in line with the fees charged by 
Commercial operators in the locality.  The services provided by the Council 
are different in a number of ways to the Commercial Operators, however on 
balance there is a small disparity between the Commercial and Council 
current charges and therefore the 4% increase proposed reduces this gap 
slightly for 2018/19.  Higher than inflation increases may be required in future 
years in order to eliminate any likelihood of Councils fees effecting the Market.  
As these fees are set well ahead of any Commercial operator they too have 
an opportunity to limit their fee increases if they wish to do so. 

3.11 The Winter let berths introduced in 2016/17 have been very well received with 
all available berths let.  Users report that the service could be further 
enhanced by providing access to power bollards (electricity used charges 
detailed elsewhere).  These bollards will be introduced in 2018/19.  The 
charge for Winter Berths therefore shows an increase of 29% which reflects 
the access to a power supply from winter 2018.  

 

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 The Lake Wardens carry out informal consultation with users on a regular 
basis.  The addition of power supplies for winter berthing is evidence of where 
customer request has led to adaption and changes to service delivery to 
benefit the customer.    

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 Members are asked to consider the options put forward in the report. They 
seek to limit the increase in fees and charges whilst sustaining the Lake 
Income and meet Medium Term Financial plan requirements of a 2% rise 
where practicable. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 The Lake helps to support all areas of the Corporate Plan, in particular with 
regard to the public realm and visitor services and the economy.  

 Further links can be found within Culture and Wellbeing by using our open 
spaces to enhance our unique cultural identity. 

Page 81



4 
 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 The future year’s income base budgets are set by the agreed Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) and this has already had inflationary growth built into 
them. Where this cannot be met or managed through reductions in 
expenditure, this will be identified as a growth bid.  The MTFP requires that 
Fees and Charges need to be consistent with income budgets and that this 
process must involve: 

(a) review of 2016/17 out-turn and any relevant multi-year trends;  

(b) review of current 2017/18 budget position;  

(c) review of future year income budget; and  

(d) assessment of the options for any changes to fees (structures as well 
as tariff) and the impact of this on the income budget. 

(e) For any service area where income budgets are £100k or more per 
annum, this process will be documented. All services will review the potential 
for new fees.  

7.1.2 The MTFP requires that the overall Lake income for the budget year 2018/19 
is set at £1,379,000.  This is a £27,000 increase on the 2017/18 base income 
budget and is in line with the MTFP requirements. The proposed fees and 
charges as detailed and the ongoing negotiations regarding a number of 
Commercial term leases will result in an anticipated increase up to £40,000 
higher than the MTFP requirement and this forms the basis of a 2018/19 draft 
budget proposal. 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 There are no Human Resource implications contained within this report. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 Legal input will be required to prepare any Encroachment agreements as well 
as to deal with any challenges to the Encroachment areas and fee increases. 

7.3.2 Furthermore, legal input may be necessary to respond to any issues that 
might impact upon the effective operation of the service and the level of fees 
that can be charged. 

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4.1  

Have you completed and Health, 
Social, Economic and Environmental 
Impact Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

This report deals with proposed fees 
and charges within a whole service 
area.  Those fees are set using known 

Page 82



5 
 

data and analysis from the service 
area. The proposals seek to limit the 
impact a rise in fees and charges may 
have on the usage of the Lake. 

 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

7.5.1 Have you completed an 
Equality Impact Analysis? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

No Impact Assessment has been 
carried out. The proposals do not 
impact differentially between equality 
groups. 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

That fees are increased 
beyond a level that the 
majority of users find 
acceptable and user 
levels fall. 

Reduced income and 
increased pressure to 
raise fees further within 
a diminishing market. 

Keep fees affordable 
and realistic in order to 
retain existing clients 
and secure new 
customers by providing 
an efficient well-
managed service. 

Market the services 
which are available 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Report Author - Jim Maguire.  Community and Leisure Manager. 01539793161.  
J.maguire@southlakeland.gov.uk 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

Appendix No.  

1 Proposed fees 2018/19 

2. Corporate Charging Policy. 

 

 

 

Page 83



6 
 

 

 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

09/09/2017 N/A 09/09/2017 22/09/2017  

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

 06/10/2017 N/A 09/09/2017 09/09/2017 

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager 

Leader 

 

Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

  

09/09/2017 N/A N/A   

 

Page 84



Appendix 1

NET 

CHARGE 

2017/18 VAT 2017/18 

GROSS 

CHARGE 

2017/18

BUDGET 

2017/18

NET 

CHARGE 

2018/19 VAT 2018/19 

GROSS 

CHARGE 

2018/19

APPROVED 

BUDGET 

2018/19

% Increase 

Budget 

2018/19

% Increase 

Net Fee 

2018/19 REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

LAKE WINDERMERE

       Permanent Mooring Charges per annum . 

Inclusive of VAT

(3rd Party insurance compulsory)

Open deck yachts moored annually All non-commercial mooring licensee 592.50 118.50 711.00 616.67 123.33 740.00 4%

All other crafts, overall length up to max of 14m (per 1.0m) entitled to limited free use of slipway 106.25 21.25 127.50 110.00 22.00 132.00 4%

Minimum charge for all other crafts as above tractor, mast hoist and showers. 458.33 91.67 550.00 475.00 95.00 570.00 4%

Mooring with no boat attached 458.33 91.67 550.00 475.00 95.00 570.00 4%

Commercial all sizes 1,168.75 233.75 1402.50 1,227.19 245.44 1,472.63 5%

up to max of 11m (36ft)

Commercial service moorings (all sizes) 1,017.08 203.42 1220.50 1,067.93 213.59 1281.52 5%

Local resident discount 151.67 30.33 182.00 158.33 31.67 190.00 4%

applicable to mooring holders who pay Council Tax

at the full rate, are not in arrears and declare that their

sole or main residence is in South Lakeland

534,040 498,000 -7% Moorings removed due to encroachment leases.

        Jetty Berths

Berth for vessels 13 metres to 14 metres Local residents discount does not apply to Jetty Berths 4,926.67 985.33 5,912.00 5,125.00 1,025.00 6150.00 4%

Berh for vessels 12 metres to 13 metres To include free parking permit for 1 car (excluding winter) 4,762.50 952.50 5715.00 New Charge 2018/19

Berth for vessels up to 12 metres 4,223.33 844.67 5,068.00 4,395.83 879.17 5275.00 4%

Winter Jetty Berth 645.83 129.17 775.00 833.33 166.67 1000.00
29%

Change to service provided to include access to power. At 

relevent extra cost.

Electricity Card At cost plus 10% At cost plus 10% At cost plus 10% At cost plus 10%

126,000 126,000 0%

       Holiday Moorings and Berths (April- October)

(3rd Party insurance compulsory)

Per night mooring excluding launch 11.25 2.25 13.50 11.67 2.33 14.00 4%

Off season block bookings 220.83 44.17 265.00 229.17 45.83 275.00 4%

(1st November -31st March)

Jetty berth per night  -mooring holder 11.25 2.25 13.50 11.67 2.33 14.00 4%

  

Jetty berth per night - non mooring holder 29.17 5.83 35.00 30.00 6.00 36.00 3%

11,030 11,250 2%

       Daily Slipway Charges

           Does not include car & trailer parking.

Motorised craft 10.83 2.17 13.00 10.83 2.17 13.00 0%

All craft up to 11m (36ft) Local discount 25% Local discount 25% Local discount 25% Local discount 25%

Sale of block of 10 launching tickets Non-local discount 10% Non-local discount 10% Non-local discount 10% Non-local discount 10%

Non-motorised craft

Windsurfers, canoes and untrailered Ferry Nab only No charge No charge No charge No charge

dinghies

Waterhead Slipway All craft up to 6m with max 5hp Watehead- up to 6m overall length of craft and max 5 hp 2.50 0.50 3.00 2.50 0.50 3.00 0%

 12,101 12,343 2%

.

       Encroachments

Private Jetties, piers, quays, wharfs, catwalks, 26.35 0.00 26.35 27.14 0.00 27.14 3%

boathouses and wet docks

Chargeable per square metre

Commercial Jetties, piers, quays, wharfs, catwalks, 47.91 0.00 47.91 49.35 0.00 49.35 3%

boathouses and wet docks

Chargeable per square metre

Slipways

Private per linear Metre 19.77 0.00 19.77 20.36 0.00 20.36 3%

Commercial per linear metre 35.94 0.00 35.94 37.02 0.00 37.02 3%

Mooring Posts

Private 6.59 0.00 6.59 6.79 0.00 6.79 3%

Commercial 11.98 0.00 11.98 12.34 0.00 12.34 3%

Fences and walls

Per Linear metre in length Private 19.77 0.00 19.77 20.36 0.00 20.36 3%

Per Linear metre in length Commercial 35.94 0.00 35.94 37.02 0.00 37.02 3%

Railway lines - per pair Private 69.68 0.00 69.68 71.77 0.00 71.77 3%

P
age 85



Appendix 1

Railway lines - per pair Commercial 126.69 0.00 126.69 130.50 0.00 130.50 3%

Cables - each Private 69.68 0.00 69.68 71.77 0.00 71.77 3%

Cables - each Commercial 126.69 0.00 126.69 130.50 0.00 130.50 3%

Trot mooring chain- per 0.304m 4.79 0.00 4.79 4.93 0.00 4.93 3%

Trot mooring 592.90 0.00 592.90 610.69 0.00 610.69 3%

Administration charge 173.40 34.68 208.08 178.60 35.72 214.32 3%

499,384 511,815 2%

       Storage of Boats

Annual Storage of Boats

Mooring licences (tenders) Excludes launching fee 93.33 18.67 112.00 95.83 19.17 115.00 3%

per annum (in racks)

Trailered sailing dinghy Slipping and tractor not included 255.00 51.00 306.00 263.33 52.67 316.00 3%

per max 5.5m (18ft) per year

Catamarans 316.66 63.34 380.00 350.00 70.00 420.00 11%

Holiday Boat Storage (Apr-Oct)

Trailered sailing dinghy 8.33 1.67 10.00 8.33 1.67 10.00 0%

per max 5.5m (18ft) per night

Powered Craft and Catamarans 20.83 4.17 25.00 20.83 4.17 25.00 0%

(Max L.O.A. 5.5m- Min 3rd Party Ins)   

 

Ferry Nab Winter Storage (Nov-March) 31.00 6.20 37.20 31.92 6.38 38.30 3%

per metre  

Trailer parking per month 27.00 5.40 32.40 27.83 5.57 33.40 3%  

74,158 75,591 2%

       Licence Fee Row boats/windsurfers and sailing

dinghies 22.00 0.00 22.00 23.00 0.00 23.00 5%  

All other craft:  

Up to 6.09 metres 40.00 0.00 40.00 42.00 0.00 42.00 5%

Over 6.09 mtrs & up to 9.14 metres 60.00 0.00 60.00 63.00 0.00 63.00 5%

Over 9.14 metres 90.00 0.00 90.00 95.00 0.00 95.00 6%

Boatmen/Shoremen - 6 years 200.00 0.00 200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00 0%

Boatmen/Shoremen - 1 year 75.00 0.00 75.00 75.00 0.00 75.00 0%

Retest fee per hour 75.00 0.00 75.00 75.00 0.00 75.00 0%

16,854 17,156 2%

       Other Tractor per half hour 22.92 4.58 27.50 22.92 4.58 27.50 0%

Mast Hoist per use 22.92 4.58 27.50 22.92 4.58 27.50 0%

Warden Boat hire None Emergency 195.00 39.00 234.00 195.00 39.00 234.00 0%

per hour

Towing per half hour 195.00 39.00 234.00 195.00 39.00 234.00 0%

Pressure washer 22.92 4.58 27.50 22.92 4.58 27.50 0%

2,189 2,233 2%

Maps laminated 5.00 0.00 5.00 5.00 0.00 5.00 0%

Registration number boards 12.50 2.50 15.00 12.50 2.50 15.00 0%

6,071 6,191 2%

Mooring holder & storage client 

Car parking first 24 hrs As per Ferry Nab Multi Tariff As per Ferry Nab Multi Tariff As per Ferry Nab Multi Tariff As per Ferry Nab Multi Tariff

concurrent 24 hrs As per Ferry Nab Multi Tariff As per Ferry Nab Multi Tariff As per Ferry Nab Multi Tariff As per Ferry Nab Multi Tariff

Parking Permit 141.66 28.34 170.00 150.00 30.00 180.00 6%

Car & trailer parking all day when launching 10.83 2.17 13.00 10.83 2.17 13.00 0%

35,200 35,907 2%

Sewage Pump out

SLDC Mooring Holders

1 Credit 2.00 0.00 2.00 2.00 0.00 2.00 0%

10 Credits 15.00 0.00 15.00 15.00 0.00 15.00 0%

Non SLDC Mooring Holders

1 Credit 4.50 0.00 4.50 4.50 0.00 4.50 0%

10 Credits 40.00 0.00 40.00 40.00 0.00 40.00 0%

Showers 0.83 0.17 1.00 -100% No longer charged

P
age 86



2018/19 budget cycle 
 

Appendix 2 
CORPORATE CHARGING POLICY  
 
 
Introduction 
 
1. Officers and Members should ensure that all relevant issues are addressed when considering the 

possible introduction of new charges or reviewing current charges. Reviewing charges does, of 
course, result in politically sensitive issues for Members.  Charging is an important and appropriate 
way of financing services and provides an alternative to council tax in paying for the Council’s 
services. The Council needs to make its approach and policy on charges clear to the public and 
explain why it is appropriate to introduce charges or increase charges in appropriate circumstances. 
This can be achieved by following the principles and processes outlined in this charging policy. 

 
2. It is also important to recognise that charging is just one aspect of the Council’s overall financial 

management arrangements and the service and financial planning process. Clearly, Members and 
management ensure that services are provided efficiently and effectively and that costs are 
regularly scrutinised and reduced wherever possible. Hence, when new charges are being 
considered or current ones reviewed, this is in the knowledge that all other steps to minimise the 
net cost of the service have been taken. 

 
3. The key principals and processes in relation to setting fees and charges are set out below. A 

declaration to evidence the annual review of fees and charges is included at Annex A; this needs 
to be completed by each AD to confirm the annual review has taken place. A detailed check 
list is included at Annex B; this is to be completed where there are new or amended fees and 
charges. A classification guide and the types of issue to consider for each fee type is included at 
Annex C. 

 
Key questions before setting fees and charges 
 
4. The adoption of a strategic approach to charging and questioning the role of charges in the 

provision of services is very important in terms of the impact on the community and the Council’s 
financial position. In considering charges, the following questions should be addressed:  

 
• Why are we providing this service? 
• Who benefits from the service – individuals or the community? 
• Do we subsidise this service from council tax? 
• What are we achieving by subsidising it? 
• How much do residents and businesses value the service? 
• How willing and able are they to pay for it? 
• What effect does charging have on the supply and demand for a service? 
• How can charging affect behaviour and assist service objectives? 

 
 
Principles 
 
5. Charges should be considered where only some members of the public benefit from the service 

provided. The overall principle for charging should be that the “user pays”, and non-users do not 
support users through council tax. 
 

6. Future charging proposals must be judged in the light of the Council’s corporate aims and service 
objectives and also identify whether charging is an appropriate alternative to council tax in paying 
for the service in question. 

 

Page 87



2018/19 budget cycle 
 

7. Charges should be set at levels that, as far as possible, do not preclude members of the public from 
using or benefiting from a service. Consideration should be given to the ability of individuals, 
including those of limited means, to meet the charges and benefit from the service available and 
consistently reflected in agreed charges. 

 
8. Charging arrangements should be efficient and practical and should demonstrate responsible asset 

management for the benefit of the whole district, i.e. that sufficient income is raised through 
charges to ensure that the assets employed in providing the services are fully maintained and 
improved when necessary. 

 
9. Charges can be levied to raise revenue for the general provision/improvement of services, to offset 

council tax rises or to help fund specific projects where the Council has the legal powers to do so. 
 
10. Charges can be used to regulate demand and change behaviours where this is appropriate to meet 

the Council’s aims and priorities. 
 
11. Appropriate use of section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003 and the General Power of 

Competence under the Localism Act 2011, to charge for services will be considered; services 
should consider any new areas where charges may be appropriate 

 
12. Charges should be subject to consultation with users or beneficiaries of the service where 

appropriate. 
 
13. Charges can be market-led and should take into account market demand and competition from 

other providers of the service. 
 
14. The extent of any subsidy should be determined and charging levels should take account of 

comparisons with other Local Authorities’ charges and charging policies and the willingness of 
users to pay for valued services. 

 
 
Process 
 
15. The following process should be applied to the annual review of fees and charges;  

15.1. Assistant Directors should review their fees and charges annually against the principals above 
as an integral part of the service and financial planning process. This review should be 
documented with ADs to sign off their fees and charges confirming they comply with the 
principles using the form at Annex A. Assistant Directors should consult the relevant Portfolio 
Holder in considering current charges and the potential for new charges in relation to all 
Council services as part of this process. 

15.2. Appropriate consultation with service users and stakeholders should be undertaken in respect 
of any proposed significant changes to current charges or in relation to the introduction of 
significant new charges. A Corporate Charging Policy Checklist (Annex B) should be 
completed for any new or amended charges. 

15.3. All charging proposals need to be considered each year by Cabinet. Variations to charges will 
generally apply from 1 April; proposals need to be developed and reported with reference to 
any statutory notice periods. Any ‘mid year’ proposals for new or amended charges should also 
be submitted to Cabinet again, with reference to statutory notice periods and the impact of this 
on changes to income budgets. 

  

Page 88



2018/19 budget cycle 
 

CORPORATE CHARGING POLICY ANNUAL REVIEW DECLARATION                ANNEX A 
 
I confirm that the fees and charges within my sub-directorate area have been reviewed against the 
corporate charging policy principals and that the proposed fees comply with these principals. 
 
 
 
 
Assistant Director ………………………………………………………… 
 
 
 
 
Assistant Director Area………………………………….……………….. 
 
 
 
 
Date………………………………………………………………………… 
 
  

Page 89



2018/19 budget cycle 
 

CORPORATE CHARGING POLICY CHECKLIST      Annex B 
 
Please complete this for any service where there are new or amended fees and charges. 
 
1. Objectives of Charge – what is(are) the principal charging objective(s) ?  

Recover cost of service provision                                                                    Yes/No 
Generate Surplus Income (where permitted)                                                   Yes/No 
Maintain existing service provision                                                                   Yes/No 
Fund service improvements or introduction of new service(s);                         Yes/No 
Manage demand for service(s)                                                                         Yes/No 
Promote access to services for low-income households;                                 Yes/No 
Promote equity or fairness;                                                                               Yes/No 
Achieve wider strategic policy objectives (e.g. encouraging green policies);   Yes/No 

 
2. Set out the charge type and the implications 
 

Identify the charge type as set out in the Charge Type Checklist (Annex C) 
 

Set out how the issues for the specific charge type have been addressed  
 

How has the impact of charging on user groups been assessed? 
 

 
3. Targeting Concessions – Set out how any concessions have been considered for the 

following target groups: 
 

OAPs 
  

Unemployed 
 

People under the age of 18 and students in full time education 
 

Community Groups 
 

Those in receipt of income-related benefits, tax credits, attendance allowance, disability living 
allowance and other appropriate groups 
 

 
4. Trading – Set out whether the possibility of a trading operation has been considered 

The Council is empowered to sell goods or services to other public bodies or trade commercially. 
Please set out how the following have been considered: 

 

Could services be delivered more strategically over a wider area/lager scale? 
 

Could we achieving greater efficiency through trading or partnership working? 
 

Is there a wider demand for the Council’s expertise? 
 

Is there any spare capacity that could be utilised? 
 

Is there potential to generate additional income?  
 

Is there scope to support service improvement? 
 

Page 90



2018/19 budget cycle 
 

 
5. Value For Money – Set out how value for money has been considered 
 

Has charging been used as a tool for achieving strategic policy objectives?  
 

Has the optimum use of the power to charge been used? 
 

Has charging secured improvements in value for money? 
 

Has charging been used as a tool to reduce increases in Council Tax? 
 

Are there any budget implication for the proposed change and if so, has a savings/growth 
form been submitted? 
 

 

6. Means of charging and collecting income – Set out how the income will be collected 

 

Can income be collected in advance, or at the time, of service delivery 
 

How will the income be collected? (invoicing is a relatively high-cost) 
 

Is the proposed collection method consistent with Financial Procedure Rules? 
 

 
Sign off 
 
 
Budget Manager…………………………………… 
 
 
AD…………………………………………………… 
  

Page 91



2018/19 budget cycle 
 

Charging Classification        Annex C 
 

 

Charge type Description Considerations

Full commercial

The council seeks to maximise revenue 

within an overall objective of generating as 

large a surplus (or a minimum loss) from this 

service.

Subsidised

Council policy is to make the service widely 

accessible, but believe users of the service 

should make some contribution from their 

own resources. Could also be due to the 

adverse impact a cost recovery or commercial 

charging policy would have on other council 

services.

Nominal

The council wishes the service to be fully 

available, but sets a charges to discourage 

frivolous usage.

Statutory Charges are set in line with legal obligations
• Are they set at the maximum permitted 

levels?

• Are the charges high enough for the service to 

be profitable? If not, consider whether the 

service should be provided.

• How would changes in pricing structures affect 

demand for the service and potentially its 

profitability?

• Does the council offer any premium in terms 

of service levels that customers would be 

prepared to pay more for?

• Are competitors charging similar prices?

• How does the proposed fee structure fit in 

with the long-term business plan for the 

service?

Free
Council policy is to make the service fully 

available.

The council seeks to maximise income but 

subject to a defined policy constraint. This 

could include a commitment made to 

potential customers on an appropriate fee 

structure. Alternatively, a full commercial 

rate may not be determinable or the council 

may be a monopoly supplier of services.

Fair charging

• Has the cost of the subsidy been evaluated?

• What has been the impact on demand and on 

service levels from adopting this approach?

• Are charges in line with statutory 

requirements?

• Is there a problem of frivolous use of the 

service?

• Is this approach legally required?

• Does this approach fit in with the 

requirements of other funding streams i.e. 

grants?

• Do charges recover the full costs, including 

overheads, capital charges and recharges?

• Is it possible to charge on a full commercial 

basis and if so has the loss of income from not 

charging on a full commercial basis been 

evaluated?

• Are Members aware of the effect on demand 

for this service from this charging policy?

• What would be the effect of changing the 

policy to a different one e.g. subsidised?

• How do the charges compare to other 

providers of similar services?

• Has the loss of income from not charging on a 

commercial basis been evaluated?

• Is the policy constraint justifying this charging 

policy still valid?

As above, but with discounted concessions 

being given to enable disadvantaged groups 

to access the service.

Full commercial 

with discounts

Cost recovery

The council wishes to make the service 

generally available, but does not wish to 

allocate its own resources to the service.

Cost recovery with 

discounts

As above, but the council is prepared to 

subsidise the service to ensure 

disadvantaged groups have access to the 

service.

Page 92



Document is Restricted

Page 93

Item No.9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 99

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Progress Report
	7 Windermere - Lake Action Plan 2017-2022
	Windermere – Lake Action Plan 2017-2022 - Appendix 1
	Windermere - Lake Action Plan 2017-2022 - ANNEX 1 to Appendix 1
	Windermere – Lake Action Plan 2017-2022 - Appendix 2
	Windermere – Lake Action Plan 2017-2022 - Appendix 3
	Windermere – Lake Action Plan 2017-2022 - Appendix 4

	8 Lake Windermere Fees and Charges 2018/19
	Lake Windermere Fees and Charges 2018-19 - Appendix 1
	Lake Windermere Fees and Charges 2018-19 - Appendix 2

	9 Update on Commercial Leases and Encroachments
	PART II Update on Commercial Leases and Encroachments - Appendix A


